human reproduction update

Effects of cigarette smoking on reproduction

C. Dechanet^{1,*}, T. Anahory¹, J.C. Mathieu Daude², X. Quantin³, L. Reyftmann¹, S. Hamamah¹, B. Hedon¹, and H. Dechaud¹

¹Department of Medicine and Biology of Reproduction, Hôpital Arnaud de Villeneuve, 371 Avenue du Doyen Gaston Giraud, 34 295 Montpellier Cedex 5, France ²Department of Toxicology, Hôpital Lapeyronie, 371 Avenue du Doyen Gaston Giraud, 34 295 Montpellier Cedex 5, France ³Department of Thoracic Oncology, Hôpital Arnaud de Villeneuve, 371 Avenue du Doyen Gaston Giraud, 34 295 Montpellier Cedex 5, France

*Correspondence address. Tel: +33 467336481; Fax: +33 467336290; E-mail: c-dechanet@chu-montpellier.fr

Submitted on June 29, 2009; resubmitted on June 2, 2010; accepted on June 9, 2010

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- Introduction
- Methods
- Results

Cigarette smoking and folliculogenesis

Cigarette smoking and steroidogenesis

Cigarette smoking and preimplantation embryo development

Cigarette smoking and Fallopian tubes

Cigarette smoking and embryo implantation

Cigarette smoking and uterine flow velocity

Cigarette smoking and myometrial activity

Factors influencing smoke effects on reproductive tract and function

Conclusion

BACKGROUND: Cigarette smoking is associated with lower fecundity rates, adverse reproductive outcomes and a higher risk of IVF failures. Over the last few decades, prevalence of smoking among women of reproductive age has increased. This review focuses on current knowledge of the potential effects of smoke toxicants on all reproductive stages and the consequences of smoke exposure on reproductive functions.

METHODS: We conducted a systematic review of the scientific literature on the impact of cigarette smoking and smoke constituents on the different stages of reproductive function, including epidemiological, clinical and experimental studies. We attempted to create hypotheses and find explanations for the deleterious effects of cigarette smoke observed in experimental studies.

RESULTS: Cigarette smoke contains several thousand components (e.g. nicotine, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and cadmium) with diverse effects. Each stage of reproductive function, folliculogenesis, steroidogenesis, embryo transport, endometrial receptivity, endometrial angiogenesis, uterine blood flow and uterine myometrium is a target for cigarette smoke components. The effects of cigarette smoke are dose-dependent and are influenced by the presence of other toxic substances and hormonal status. Individual sensitivity, dose, time and type of exposure also play a role in the impact of smoke constituents on human fertility.

CONCLUSIONS: All stages of reproductive functions are targets of cigarette smoke toxicants. Further studies are necessary to better understand the deleterious effects of cigarette smoke compounds on the reproductive system in order to improve health care, help to reduce cigarette smoking and provide a better knowledge of the molecular mechanisms involved in reproductive toxicology.

Key words: cigarette smoke / reproductive functions / fecundity / IVF

Introduction

In Europe, smoking prevalence among women of reproductive age has increased over the last decades and reached 33% in 2006 (Huisman *et al.*, 2005). In the USA, during the same period, the prevalence rate was 28% (CDC, 2008).

The relationship between decreased fertility and smoking is not well known. In a study involving infertile and pregnant smokers, Hughes et al. (2000) observed that only 47% of infertile patients and 14% of pregnant patients believed that smoking significantly impaired fertility. Moreover, only 30% of infertile patients were informed by their physicians about the risks of smoking. Poor understanding of the deleterious effects of smoking on fertility highlights the necessity for physicians to encourage patients of childbearing age to quit smoking.

Cigarette smoking is associated with reproductive life impairment such as an earlier onset of menopause (lick and Porter, 1977), higher infertility risk (Augood et al., 1998; de Mouzon and Belaisch-Allart, 2005), lower fecundity rate (Baird and Wilcox, 1985; Tzonou et al., 1993; Bolumar et al., 1996; Hull et al., 2000) and lower IVF success rates (Hughes and Brennan, 1996; Feichtinger et al., 1997; Augood et al., 1998; Klonoff-Cohen et al., 2001; Neal et al., 2005; Wright et al., 2006). In a recent meta-analysis involving 21 studies that investigated the effects of smoking on IVF results, smoking was associated with a lower chance of clinical pregnancy [odds ratio (OR) = 0.56, 95 confidence interval (CI) 0.43-0.73], higher risk of miscarriage and ectopic pregnancy, and a lower chance of live birth per cycle (OR = 0.54, 95 Cl 0.30-0.99) (Waylen et al., 2009). Despite controversial results, studies involving IVF procedures demonstrated that cigarette smoke had deleterious effects on all steps: ovarian sensitivity (Elenbogen et al., 1991; Hughes et al., 1994; El-Nemr et al., 1998), number of oocytes (Van Voorhis et al., 1996; El-Nemr et al., 1998; Klonoff-Cohen et al., 2001; Wright et al., 2006; Fuentes et al., 2010), fertilization (Elenbogen et al., 1991; Gruber et al., 2008), implantation and early placentation (Winter et al., 2002; Soares et al., 2007).

Cigarette smoke contains about 4000 compounds belonging to a variety of chemical classes known to be toxic, including polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH) [e.g. benzo(a)pyrene (BaP), acenapthelene, phenanthrene, pyrene and chrysene], nitrosamines, heavy metals [e.g. cadmium (Cd), lead and cobalt], alkaloids (nicotine), aromatic amines and so forth (Kaiserman and Rickert, 1992; Ding et al., 2005). These compounds have different properties and probably different targets on the human reproductive system. The aim of this review was to focus on current knowledge of tobacco smoke effects on the reproduction process and analyse for each reproductive stage the deleterious effects of smoke components.

Methods

For this systematic review, Pubmed, EMBASE and Web of Science data-bases were used to collect all human epidemiological and clinical studies, as well as experimental studies with animal or cell culture models, by means of the following keywords: 'smoke', 'cigarettes', 'tobacco', 'fertility', 'fecundity', 'assisted reproductive techniques', 'in vitro fertilization', 'folliculogenesis', 'oocyte', 'steroidogenesis', 'Fallopian tubes', 'embryo', 'embryo implantation', 'endometrium', 'trophoblast', 'myometrium', 'uterine Doppler', 'uterine blood flow', 'passive smoking',

'active smoking', 'mainstream smoke', 'sidestream smoke', 'environmental tobacco exposure', 'antenatal exposure' and 'childhood exposure'. In addition, references cited in the selected articles and reviews were searched. Four hundred and forty-eight publications were found. Only clinical and experimental studies were included. We excluded studies analysing cigarette smoke effects on male fertility and publications about other types of smoke (i.e. Marijuana). As we focused on reproductive functions from folliculogenesis to implantation, we excluded publications about the effects of cigarette smoke on pregnancy, the fetus and placenta. Only publications written in English and French were considered. One hundred and eighty-one publications were selected and analysed. Our review was conducted according to different reproductive functions which were classified as follows: folliculogenesis, steroidogenesis, preimplantation embryo development, Fallopian tube function, embryo implantation, uterine flow velocity and myometrial activity. For each reproductive function, we collected observations from human epidemiological or clinical studies about cigarette smoke effects. Then, we attempted to find hypotheses and explanations for the deleterious effects of cigarette smoke observed in experimental studies. Thereafter, factors influencing the negative effects of cigarette smoke on reproductive function were studied.

Results

Cigarette smoking and folliculogenesis

Effects of cigarette smoke on folliculogenesis

Cigarette smoking is associated with a risk of an earlier onset of menopause, which is advanced by 2 years (Jick and Porter, 1977). Cooper et al. (1995) demonstrated a higher FSH level in smokers. Ovarian reserve seems to be lower in smokers: Freour et al. (2008) evaluated anti-Mullerian hormone (AMH) in patients with comparable FSH and estradiol (E_2) levels on Day 3 of the menstrual cycle and found that AMH was significantly lower in smokers (3.06 versus 3.81 μ g/l).

Experimental studies confirmed the deleterious effect of cigarette smoke (Table I). In a mouse model exposed to BaP, Mattison et al. (1989) found ovarian weight to be decreased. When different types of animal models were exposed to cigarette smoke metabolites, such as Cd, nicotine or BaP, regardless of the administration route (i.p., intra-ovarian or oral), follicle loss was reported at all stages of folliculogenesis (Shiromizu and Mattison, 1984; Mattison et al., 1989; Miller et al., 1992; Lienesch et al., 2000; Barbieri et al., 2005). Primordial follicles appeared to be especially sensitive to cigarette smoke (Mulligan Tuttle et al., 2009). Moreover, follicle growth was also shown to be inhibited, with smaller-sized follicles after nicotine (Bordel et al., 2006) or BaP exposure (Neal et al., 2007). Follicle growth in an isolated rat follicle culture decreased by 35% when exposed to 1.5 ng/ml of BaP, a concentration representative of levels found in the follicular fluid of women who smoked an average of 15 cigarettes/day (Neal et al., 2007).

Impairment in follicle growth could be explained by morphological alterations of the cumulus—oocyte complex (COC). When cultures of porcine COC were exposed to cigarette smoke compounds, such as cotinine, anabasine, nicotine and Cd, Vrsanska et al. found an inhibitory effect on cumulus expansion, with abnormal extracellular matrix. Hyaluronic acid synthesis was diminished in the presence of Cd and nicotine (Vrsanska et al., 2003). Liu et al. (2008a) demonstrated a dose-dependent negative effect of nicotine on bovine COC expansion as well as an impairment of perivitelline space formation, suggesting

ec
ha
ne
t e
t a
Ξ.

Reference	Model	Exposure	Toxicants	Dose	Effects
Neal et al. (2007)	Rat follicle	Culture medium	BaP	1.5, 5, 45 and 135 ng/ml	Inhibition of follicle growth
					Inhibition by 35% at 1.5 ng/ml (equivalent follicular concentration of 15 daily cigarettes)
					Dose-dependent decreased growth
Bordel et al. (2006)	Hamster dorsal skin	Daily s.c. injection	Nicotine	0.2 and I mg/kg	Inhibition of follicle growth
	chamber with				Increased cells apoptosis with increased caspase-3 level
	transplanted follicles				No effect on follicular angiogenesis
Vrsanska et al. (2003)	Porcine COC	Culture medium	Nicotine	2×10^{-4} to 10^{-6} M	Decreased COC expansion
			Anabasine	10^{-4} to 10^{-6} M	Decreased hyaluronic acid synthesis
			Cotinine	10^{-4} to 10^{-6} M	Decreased progesterone synthesis
Neal et al. (2007)	Human COC	Mainstream smoke	BaP	Smokers follicular fluid	Inhibition of follicle growth
				BaP = 1.32 ng/ml	Decreased E ₂ synthesis
Lienesch et al. (2000)	Xenopus laevis	Dorsal lymph	Cadmium	3.0 and 5.0 mg/kg	Decreased follicle growth
		injection			Increased number of atretic oocytes
Barbieri et al. (2005)	Human COC	Cigarette smoke	Cigarette smoke	Not mentioned	Decreased number of retrieved oocytes
Miller et al. (1992)	Mouse	i.p. injection	BaP	0-500 mg/kg	Decreased ovarian volume
					Decreased corpus luteum volume
					Decreased corpus luteum number
Mattison et al. (1989)	Mouse	Intraovarian	BaP and metabolites:	Not mentioned	Decreased ovary weight and volume
		injection	7,8-oxide (7,8-O)		Decreased number of follicles at all stages of
			7,8-dihydrodiol		development
			7,8-dihydrodiol-9,10-epoxide		
Mulligan Tuttle et al. (2009)	Mouse	Exposure chambers	Mainstream smoke	I puff/52 s	Decreased ovarian volume
		Culture medium	BaP	$I-I \times 10^{-5} g/ml$	Decreased number of follicles
					Decreased Bcl-2 expression
Liu et al. (2008a, b)	Bovine COC	Culture medium	Nicotine	0.05, 1.0, 2.5, 5.0 and	Decreased COC expansion
				10.0 mmol	Decreased perivitelline space formation
Paksy et al. (1997)	Human granulosa cells	Culture medium	Cadmium	$6-16-32-64 \times 10^{-6} \text{M}$	Cytoplasmic retractions
					Cells detachment
Sanders et al. (2002)	Bovine granulosa and thecal cells	Culture medium	Nicotine	$0.3, 3, 30 \text{ and } 10^{-6} \text{ M}$	Decreased cell viability

Decreased COC size Loss of cumulus cell Increased matrix degradation	Inhibition of SOD activity Increased catalase activity		
Not mentioned	i.p. injection of cadmium 0.05 mg/kg	Culture medium	
Smoke solution from 60 puffs of cigarette	Cadmium		mutase.
Culture medium	In vivo	<i>In vitr</i> o with granulosa cells	stradiol; SOD, superoxide dismutase.
Hamster COC	Rats		aP, benzo(a)pyrene; E ₂ , e
Gieseke and Talbot (2005) Hamster COC	Nampoothiri et al. (2007)		COC, cumulus-oocyte complex; BaP, benzo(a)pyrene; E ₂ , estradiol; SOD,

that smoke components induced impairment of the mucification process. Paksy et al. (1997) studied the effects of smoke metabolites on human granulosa cell culture: at high doses of Cd or low doses with longer exposure times, granulosa cells began to separate, cellular extensions retracted and nuclear abnormalities were observed. In addition, high doses of Cd led to granulosa cell necrosis (Leoni et al., 2002).

Zenzes et al. investigated the effect of cigarette smoking on oocyte maturation in IVF patients: in patients younger than 35 years, a positive correlation between the number of cigarettes smoked and follicular cotinine was observed. Surprisingly, a positive correlation was also seen between follicular cotinine level and the rate of oocyte maturation (Zenzes et al., 1997b). In contrast, in a frog model exposed to Cd, Lienesch et al. (2000) observed an accumulation of Cd in ovaries as well as delayed oocyte development and maturation. Different results regarding oocyte maturation in these two studies could be accounted for by differences in the toxicants studied and models used. In a mouse model exposed to nicotine, Mailhes et al. studied the rate of chromosomal abnormalities in metaphase II oocytes. In nonexposed mice, the rates of premature chromatid separation and premature anaphase were, respectively, 4.6 and 0.3%, whereas in the group exposed to high levels of nicotine, the rates were 9.2 and 5.4%, respectively (Mailhes et al., 2000). Higher rates of morphological oocyte abnormalities and aneuploidies were observed after nicotine exposure, suggestive of deleterious effects of smoke metabolites on COC and nuclear maturation.

Presence of cigarette smoke metabolites in ovarian tissue

Many cigarette smoke compounds have thus far been identified in ovarian tissue (Table II). Nicotine and cotinine were found in the follicular fluid (Weiss and Eckert, 1989; Zenzes et al., 1996) (mean cotinine levels of 710.4, 76.3 and 4.2 ng/ml, respectively, in active, passive and non-smokers), with a positive correlation between follicular cotinine levels and the rate of cigarette consumption (Zenzes et al., 1996). Cotinine was also detected in both the nucleus and the cytoplasm of the granulosa cells (Zenzes et al., 1997a). BaP was also identified in granulosa cells (Zenzes et al., 1998). Neal et al. (2007, 2008) investigated

Table II Cigarette smoke metabolite concentrations (ng/ml) in human serum and follicular fluid in smokers and non-smokers.

	Serui	m	Follic fluid	ular	Reference
	NS	S	NS	S	
Cotinine			3.8	340	Zenzes et al. (1998)
PAH					
BaP	0.22	0.40	0.03	1.32	Neal et al. (2007)
Acenaphtelene	0.44	0.99	1.44	1.71	Neal et al. (2008)
Phenantrene	5.9	5.45	3.20	3.56	Neal et al. (2008)
Pyrene	0.27	0.30	0.25	0.22	Neal et al. (2008)
Chrysene	0.40	0.20	0.15	0.15	Neal et al. (2008)
Cadmium	0.85	0.97	7.93	6.73	Shaham et al. (1996)

NS, non-smokers; S, smokers; PAH, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons.

follicular PAH levels in IVF patients and found that BaP levels were positively correlated with female cigarette consumption (mean BaP levels of I.32, 0.05 and 0.03 ng/ml, respectively, in active, passive and nonsmokers). This may suggest that the follicular fluid that bathes the growing follicle acts as a sink for toxicants such as BaP. Thus, they established that I.5 ng/ml of BaP corresponded to a human follicular fluid BaP concentration resulting from consuming I5 cigarettes/day. Cd was also detected in human ovarian tissue and the follicular fluid, with higher levels in smokers than non-smokers (Zenzes et al., 1995a). All these studies allow us to conclude that follicular fluid and ovarian cells retain toxic compounds and create a toxic environment for follicle growth and oocyte maturation, to differing degrees depending on the number of cigarettes smoked per day.

Mechanisms involved in folliculogenesis impairment

Some mechanisms explaining folliculogenesis impairment have been described: abnormal oxidative stress, increased cellular apoptosis, abnormal cross-talk between oocyte and granulosa cells, and impairment of oocyte nuclear function.

Paszkowski et al. measured follicular oxidative activity in smokers: lipid peroxidation product was 0.49, 0.50 and 1.07 μmol/l and the total antioxidative capacity was 440.0, 385.4 and 362.3 μmol/l, respectively, in non-, passive and active smokers. Moreover, they found a positive correlation between the rate of lipid peroxidation and the level of patient exposure to cigarette smoke (Paszkowski et al., 2002). The effects of cigarette smoke on oxidative stress are well known as are the effects of smoke on cellular apoptosis and aneuploidy (Lee et al., 1989; Van der Vaart et al., 2004; Kim et al., 2008). Cd was shown to increase ovarian oxidative stress: Nampoothiri et al. evaluated the effects of Cd on mouse ovarian oxidative stress by using granulosa cells exposed in vitro to Cd and granulosa cells isolated from mice exposed for 15-day periods. Increased lipid peroxidation, reduced glutathione contents, increased catalase activity and decreased superoxide dismutase activity were observed in ovaries exposed to Cd (Nampoothiri et al., 2007).

Cigarette smoking was shown to be associated with follicle loss, involving complex mechanisms and cell death pathways. Higher expression and synthesis of Bax, a pro-apoptotic molecule, were observed in mouse ovaries after exposure to BaP (Matikainen et al., 2001). The action of BaP is mediated through the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR), a cytoplasmic receptor identified in granulosa cells (Bussmann and Baranao, 2006) and implicated in follicle growth (Benedict et al., 2000; Pocar et al., 2005). The identification of an AhRresponse element in Bax promoters suggested that AhR and Bax were implicated in cell death signalling pathways of granulosa cells exposed to smoke components (Matikainen et al., 2001). Mulligan Tuttle et al. (2009) studied apoptosis markers in ovaries of mice exposed to mainstream smoke (MS) and found lower levels of Bcl-2, an anti-apoptotic protein. Using human ovarian tissue transplanted subcutaneously in mice exposed to PAH, Jurisicova et al. (2007) observed an up-regulation of harakiri, a Bcl-2 interacting protein involved in cell death pathways, in the granulosa and stromal cells.

Paksy et al. (1997) demonstrated that human granulosa cells exposed to Cd were characterized by cytoplasmic retractions and fewer intercellular junctions. *In vitro*, BaP was shown to inhibit gap junction formation (Sharovskaya et al., 2006), junctions being indispensable for oocyte—granulosa cell cross-talk. In Sertoli cells exposed to Cd, lower levels of connexin 43, a molecule involved in gap junction

structure were observed (Fiorini et al., 2004; Gershon et al., 2008). Furthermore, smoke components are associated with damage to DNA. Using comet assay, Sinko et al. (2005) studied nuclear consequences in granulosa cells from IVF patients: higher rates of DNA strand breaks in smokers were observed. Moreover, high levels of BaP–DNA adducts in human luteal cells were also detected (Shamsuddin and Gan, 1988).

Cigarette smoking was associated with an increased risk of oocyte aneuploidy (Zenzes et al., 1995b). In mouse models exposed to nicotine, higher rates of both chromosomal abnormalities and premature separation of sister chromatids during meiosis were observed (Mailhes et al., 2000). In rat germinal cells exposed to increasing BaP doses, inhibition and blockage of meiosis were shown (Georgellis et al., 1990), implying that smoke components may induce meiotic spindle disturbances. With bovine oocytes exposed to nicotine, Liu et al. (2007, 2008a) observed a dose-dependent increased rate of aneuploidy during meiosis with irregular, malformed and multipolar spindles, abnormal chromosomal alignment and disorganized microfilaments. It was suggested that actin filaments were targets for nicotine, resulting in disorganized microfilaments and chromosomal segregation (Liu et al., 2007). Liu et al. (2008b) studied the effects of nicotine on meiotic spindles in bovine oocytes at different meiotic stages and found that the second meiotic spindles were far more sensitive to nicotine. Most constituents of cigarette smoke, such as PAH, have carcinogenic properties with the ability to link and intercalate within the DNA helix, inducing mutation, DNA adduct formation and carcinogenesis (Baird et al., 2005). All these mechanisms could also explain abnormal oocyte nuclear maturation.

Cigarette smoke is associated with impairment of folliculogenesis. Ovaries retain smoke compounds, resulting in a toxic follicle environment, inducing increased oxidative stress, abnormal intercellular cross-talk, meiosis impairment and activation of cell death pathways. Consequences are follicle loss, abnormal follicle growth, and impairment of morphology and oocytes maturation.

Cigarette smoking and steroidogenesis

Effects of cigarette smoking on steroidogenesis

Among cigarette smoke compounds, some display properties of endocrine disruptors (Mlynarcikova et al., 2005). Smokers present an abnormal endocrine profile characterized by higher testosterone level (Barbieri et al., 2005), higher level of FSH (Cooper et al., 1995) and lower E2 level during ovarian stimulation in IVF (Van Voorhis et al., 1992, 1996). Several authors have observed that smoke compounds disrupt steroidogenesis, leading to impairment of E2 synthesis (Barbieri et al., 1986; Osawa et al., 1990; Piasek and Laskey, 1994; Bodis et al., 1997; Gocze et al., 1999; Sanders et al., 2002; Vidal et al., 2006) and progesterone synthesis deficiency (Paksy et al., 1989, 1997; Piasek and Laskey, 1994). The analysis of follicular fluid components in smokers treated with IVF revealed a decreased estrogenic concentration with an increased androgen/estrogen ratio, indicative of an androgenic follicular environment (Gustafson et al., 1996; Van Voorhis et al., 1996).

Cigarette smoke compounds and endocrine disruptors

Cadmium. Cd is an endocrine disruptor which is involved in the impairment of steroidogenesis (Paksy et al., 1989, 1997; Piasek and Laskey,

1994; Henson and Chedrese, 2004). Cd decreases expression of the low-density lipoprotein receptor implicated in cholesterol internalization, the first step in steroidogenesis (Jolibois et al., 1999). In porcine granulosa cell lines exposed to low doses of Cd, an increased genomic expression of P450 side-chain cleavage (SCC) enzyme, involved in the conversion of cholesterol to pregnenolone, was observed. At high doses, Cd was shown to inhibit P450_{scc} expression, resulting in a decreased E_2 synthesis (Smida et al., 2004). Cd was reported to have an inhibitory effect on 3- β -hydroxysteroid-dehydrogenase gene expression (Smida et al., 2004). The chemical structure of Cd is close to that of calcium: this property facilitates interaction with intra-cellular calcium signalling (Lacroix and Hontela, 2006; Costa and Varanda, 2007) and Cd is probably also involved in FSH and LH intra-cellular signalling mechanisms.

Nevertheless, Cd was also found to act as an estrogen-like factor, particularly in endocrine tissues (Stoica et al., 2000). This property is related to its ability to link with estrogen receptors (Nesatyy et al., 2005), resulting in an enhanced expression of estrogen-dependent genes (Darbre, 2006; Alonso-Gonzalez et al., 2007).

Benzo(a)pyrene. BaP was described as an endocrine disruptor (Inyang et al., 2003). In experimental studies, BaP was shown to inhibit P450 aromatase expression and activity (Dong et al., 2008) and to decrease $17-\beta$ -hydroxysteroid-dehydrogenase and 17-20 lyase activities, which are all involved in steroidogenesis (Rocha Monteiro et al., 2000).

Similar to Cd, BaP presents estrogen-like properties (Charles et al., 2000; Gozgit et al., 2004), owing to the steric resemblance of PAH to sex steroids. Thus, PAH might act on the same sites as steroid hormones (Charles et al., 2000). DNA binding was observed in vitro with high doses of BaP (Charles et al., 2000; Fertuck et al., 2001). In human tissue, and particularly in ovarian tissue, BaP levels and biodisponibility were lower, and an estrogen-like effect still needs to be demonstrated (Fertuck et al., 2001).

Compounds in cigarette smoke can act as endocrine disruptors in a number of different ways, and opposite consequences have been observed, such as estrogenic and anti-estrogenic effects. These opposite effects could be explained by actions on the different stages and various targets of the steroidogenesis. The complexity of the effects of smoke compounds must be investigated to elucidate the consequences of cigarette smoke on steroidogenesis.

Cigarette smoking and preimplantation embryo development

Embryos and smoke metabolites

Several metabolites of cigarette smoke have been identified in the embryo and its environment. BaP was detectable in the embryo, at three and eight blastomere stages, in the cytoplasm and nucleus (Fabro and Sieber 1969; Zenzes et al., 1999). Nicotine was also identified in the endometrium (Fabro and Sieber, 1969) and uterine fluid (Poppe et al., 1995), suggesting that embryo development started in a 'toxic' environment.

Mechanisms and effects of cigarette smoke compounds on embryo development

Current knowledge of the potential effects of smoking on embryo development remains poor. Shiloh et al. (2004) evaluated the zona pellucida thickness in women who did, and did not, smoke: a thicker zona pellucida was observed in female smokers (20.1 μ m in

smokers versus 15.3 μ m in non-smokers). Gruber et al. (2008) evaluated the effect of female smoking on IVF embryo quality; they found that the smoking status had no influence on embryo morphology score, the rate of fragmentation and arrested embryos. However, a lower fertilization rate was observed in smokers than non-smokers (78.2 versus 85.7%). Using female mice exposed to cigarette smoke, Hassa et al. (2007) found that the rate of growing and not arrested embryos on Day 2 was lower in exposed mice as compared with controls (32 versus 75%); however, on Day 3, the rate of arrested embryos was identical in the two groups. Liu et al. (2008b) evaluated bovine embryo development after exposure to cigarette smoke and reported a higher rate of multinucleated blastomeres.

Zenzes et al. investigated preimplantation embryo development using 1682 embryos from couples who underwent IVF. Surprisingly, they found the fertilization rate and the proportion of good-quality embryos to be increased with increasing follicular cotinine levels. According to the authors, these results may be explained by a cotinine-mediated inhibition of apoptosis in developing embryos of smokers, resulting in an increased ability to survive (Zenzes et al., 1999).

The effects of Cd were also studied in mouse embryos: although no effect was observed at low levels of exposure, high doses led to embryo degeneration with a necrotic appearance (Yu et al., 1985). At the blastocyst stage, Cd induced inner cell mass cells necrosis with appearance of cytoplasmic vacuoles and residual bodies (Abraham et al., 1984).

The effects of PAH were studied on murine embryos: s.c. PAH exposure led to fewer morula and blastocyst stage embryos and fewer cells per embryo, resulting in a 20% loss of total cell number in embryos exposed to PAH (Detmar et al., 2006). BaP effects are mediated via the AhR. In rabbit embryos, AhR expression was confirmed in blastomeres at the morula stage, trophoblast cells and inner cell mass at the blastocyst stage (Tscheudschilsuren et al., 1999). There seems to be a gradual appearance of AhR during embryonic development and this time-dependent expression could account for the late effects of smoke components on embryonic development. Detmar et al. (2006) observed, in mice embryos, that exposure to PAH for 24 h significantly increased the level of Bax transcript by a factor of two and the level of caspase activity by 35%. In mice blastocysts exposed to BaP, Pedersen et al. (1985) observed an increase in sister chromatid exchanges, correlated with increasing BaP exposure.

Different molecules contained in cigarette smoke have different pro- or/and anti-apoptosis properties, leading to a probable impairment of embryo development. The increased apoptosis phenomenon observed in experimental studies could be accounted for by high levels of exposure: these levels were probably higher than those observed *in vivo*, explaining the controversial results observed in IVF studies. Mechanisms involved in the effects of smoke on embryo apoptosis or survival remain unclear and must be elucidated.

Cigarette smoking and Fallopian tubes

Effects of cigarette smoke on embryo transport through Fallopian tubes

The hypothesis that the oviduct could be considered as a target of cigarette smoke was raised after observation of an increased rate of ectopic pregnancies following exposure to tobacco smoke (Chow et al., 1988; Saraiya et al., 1998; Stergachis et al., 1991; Bouyer

et al., 2003; Karaer et al., 2006), with an increased risk with increasing number of cigarettes smoked (Saraiya et al., 1998; Bouyer et al., 2003; Karaer et al., 2006) and when cigarette consumption was active (Stergachis et al., 1991; Bouyer et al., 2003; Karaer et al., 2006). These observations suggest that cigarette smoke could have deleterious consequences on tubal functions. Smoking cessation seems to be beneficial to tubal function, although a risk remains, suggesting chronic and irreversible tubal lesions. Even if multivariate analysis with adjustment for confounding variables has often revealed associations between smoke and ectopic pregnancy, categorizing smoking as a strong risk factor should be done with caution. In fact, smoking is also associated with risk behaviours (Jonsson et al., 1997), such as alcohol intake, with pelvic inflammatory diseases and also multiplicity of sexual partners, which are individual risk factors for ectopic pregnancy.

Cigarette smoke and tubal dysfunction

Migration of the COC and embryo through the Fallopian tubes involves adhesion between the COC or embryo and tubal epithelium, ciliary activity and tubal muscular contraction (Table III). All these steps could represent targets of smoke toxicants. In hamster oviducts exposed to smoke solutions and gas phase extracted from MS and sidestream smoke (SS), decreased ciliary beat frequency (CBF), inhibition of oocyte retrieval and infundibular smooth muscle contractions (ISMC) were observed (Knoll et al., 1995; Magers et al., 1995; Knoll and Talbot, 1998; Talbot et al., 1998; Riveles et al., 2003, 2004, 2005, 2007; Gieseke and Talbot, 2005), which could explain abnormal embryo transport and ectopic implantation (Knoll and Talbot, 1998; DiCarlantonio and Talbot, 1999; Riveles et al., 2003, 2005). All negative effects were observed in a dose-dependent manner (Knoll et al., 1995; Knoll and Talbot, 1998; Riveles et al., 2003). Moreover, Riveles et al. (2007) suggested that SS had more inhibitory effects than MS. While studying the effects of MS and SS compounds from traditional commercial cigarettes, Riveles et al. found that all of them inhibited CBF, oocyte retrieval rate and ISMC. Using ex vivo hamster oviducts, they demonstrated that smoke solutions extracted from MS of Marlboro red cigarettes decreased oocyte retrieval rate by 20%, CBF by 70% and ISMC by 99.4% (Riveles et al., 2007). When studying effects on the oviduct, Riveles et al. assessed the levels of many compounds contained in MS and SS, establishing for each one the lowest observable adverse effect levels (LOAEL). The LOAEL for nicotine and cotinine was high, with inhibitory effects on oocyte retrieval rate at 10^{-2} M for nicotine and 10^{-5} M for cotinine, suggesting that both nicotine and cotinine were not the major compounds involved in tubal dysfunction. However, for many other compounds, such as cyanide, pyridine and pyridine derivatives, and pyrazine and pyrazine derivatives, the LOAEL was lower than the concentration contained in MS and SS (Riveles et al., 2004). Cyanide is present in both MS and SS at concentrations of 167 and 67 µM, respectively, and had inhibitory effects on CBF at concentrations ranging from 50 to 100 µM (Talbot et al., 1998), suggesting involvement of cyanide in tubal dysfunction.

Mechanisms involved in alteration of tubal function

The mechanisms involved in impairment of ciliary beating remain poorly understood. Normal ciliary activity is related to ciliary cell quantity (Paltieli et al., 1995). Magers et al. (1995) investigated ciliated

Table III	Table III Effects of cigarette smoke on tubal functions.	n tubal functions.		
Reference	Model	Exposure	Dose of toxicants	Effects
Magers et <i>al.</i> (1995)	Female hamster Histologic analysis of oviducts	Exposure chambers to mainstream and sidestream smoke	Serum cotinine levels: 72.8 ± 40.9 ng/ml under mainstream smoke exposure	Blebs on the surface of epithelial cells Decreased ciliary cell quantity
Knoll et al. (1995)	Female hamster oviducts ex vivo	Smoke solution and gas phase from 60 puffs of mainstream and sidestream smoke	Nicotine levels in mainstream smoke exposure Nicotine levels in mainstream smoke solution: $129 \pm 48 \mu g/ml$ mainstream gas: $0.7 \pm 0.2 \mu g/ml$ sidestream smoke solution: $2.79 \pm 57 \mu g/ml$ sidestream smoke gas: $54 \pm 7 \mu g/ml$	Dose-dependent decreased ciliary beat frequency after exposure to smoke solutions and gas phase
Knoll and Talbot (1998)	Female hamster oviducts ex vivo	Smoke solution and gas phase from 60 puffs of mainstream and sidestream smoke	Nicotine levels in mainstream smoke solution: 129 \pm 48 µg/ml mainstream gas: 0.7 \pm 0.2 µg/ml sidestream smoke solution: 279 \pm 57 µg/ml sidestream smoke gas: 54 \pm 7 µg/ml	Dose-dependant decreased oocyte retrieval rate Persistence of decreased oocyte retrieval after washing Dose-dependent decreased infundibular ciliary beat frequency Reversible ciliary beat frequency after washing

Talbot <i>et al</i> . (1998)	Female hamster oviducts ex vivo	Smoke solution and gas phase from 60 puffs of mainstream and sidestream smoke	Concentration of ciliotoxic agents in mainstream smoke solution	Dose that inhibits ciliary beat frequency
			Acrolein: $50 \pm 9 \mu M$	Acrolein: 1.78 mM
			Formaldehyde: 166 \pm 47 μ M	Formaldehyde: 1.66 mM
			Phenol: 447 \pm 16 μ M	Phenol: 10 mM
			Cyanide: $167 \pm 43 \mu M$	Cyanide: 50 μM
Riveles et al.	Female hamster oviducts	Smoke solution and gas phase from	Pyridine compounds isolated in smoke solutions and tested ex	Mainstream cigarette smoke solutions:
(2003)		60 puffs of mainstream and sidestream smoke	vivo: 2-methylpyridine, 3-methylpyridine, 4-methylpyridine, 2,3-dimethylpyridine, 2,5-dimethylpyridine, 2,6-dimethylpyridine, 3,4-dimethylpyridine, 2-ethylpyridine, 3-ethylpyridine, 3-vinylpyridine, 4,4-bipyridine, nicotine, cotinine, nornicotine, β-nicotyrine	oocyte retrieval rate decreased by 60% ciliary beat frequency decreased by 35% infundibular smooth muscle contraction decreased by 57%
			Consecutive doses in the range of 10^{-13} – 10^{-1} M was used to determine the dose that caused inhibition of oocyte retrieval rate, ciliary beat frequency and infundibular smooth muscle contraction	Inhibitory effects are observed at picomolar dose for 2-ethylpyridine, 4-methylpyridine, 2-methylpyridine, 3-vinylpyridine and 3-ethylpyridine
				Inhibitory effect on oocyte retrieval rate was observed at $10^{-2}\mathrm{M}$ for nicotine and $10^{-5}\mathrm{M}$ for cotinine
Riveles et al. (2004)	Female hamster oviducts ex vivo	Smoke solution and gas phase from 60 puffs of mainstream and sidestream smoke	Pyrazines were identified in smoke solutions and gas phase and were tested to define the LOAEL:	Pyrizine inhibited ciliary beat frequency and oocyte retrieval rate at picomolar dose and infundibular smooth muscle contraction at nanomolar dose
			2-methylpyrazine, 2,5-dimethylpyrazine, 2,6-dimethylpyrazine, 2,3,5-trimethylpyrazine, 2-ethylpyrazine, 2-methoxy-3-methylpyrazine	Pyrazine derivatives also inhibited ciliary beat frequency, oocyte retrieval rate and infundibular smooth muscle contraction at picomolar dose
Gieseke and	Female hamster oviducts ex vivo	Smoke solution and gas phase from	Nicotine levels in	Decreased COC adhesion to infundibulum
Talbot (2005)		60 smoke puffs of mainstream and	mainstream smoke solution: 129 \pm 48 μ g/ml	Decreased oocyte retrieval
		sidestream smoke	mainstream gas: 0.7 \pm 0.2 $\mu g/ml$ sidestream smoke solution: 279 \pm 57 $\mu g/ml$	More inhibitory effect with sidestream solutions
				Decreased size of COC
			sidestream smoke gas: 54 \pm 7 μ g/ml	Loss of cumulus cells
				Extracellular matrix COC disruption
				Increased adhesion between oocyte and infundibulum
				Continued

	\Box
	õ
	\geq
	<
	\supset
	\overline{c}
	ā
	Q
	Œ
	Q
	_
	2
	0
	⇉
	_
	\supset
	⇉
-	\dot{o}
	õ
	ž:
	=
	മ
	0
	ca
	$^{\circ}$
	ē
	em
	emi
	$\overline{}$
	nic.oup.com/hu
	0
	Ē
-	0
	~
	0
	0
	\equiv
	ᢓ
	3
	=
	ımnı
	ゴ
	\equiv
-	ᇹ
	\approx
	=
	Ф
	ュ
	\equiv
	C
	Œ
	-
	-
	7
	=
	-
	6/63
	\leq
	0
	ũ
	8
	N
	5
	Ċ
	_
,	39253 by guest
١,	<
(0
	=
	ue
	20
	13
	~
	0
	on 1
	\rightarrow
	0.0
	~
	8 Mai
	-
	<u>മ</u>
	2
	larch
	_
	202
	C
	~

Reference	Model	Exposure	Dose of toxicants	Effects
Riveles et <i>al</i> . (2005)	Female hamster oviducts ex vivo Establishment of the LOAEL on oocyte retrieval rate, ciliary beat frequency, and infundibular smooth muscle contraction	Smoke solution from 10 puffs Mainstream and sidestream	Compounds isolated in solid phase extraction of mainstream smoke solution: 2-methylphenol, 4-methylphenol, 2,4-dimethylphenol, 2,5-dimethylphenol, 2-methoxyphenol, 4-methoxyphenol, 2,6-dimethoxyphenol, 2-ethylphenol, 4-ethylphenol, hydroquinone, indole, 5-methylindole, quinoline, isoquinoline, benzene, 2-cyclopenten-1-one and 3-methyl-2-cyclopenten-1-one	Decreased ciliary beat frequency LOAELs from 10^{-12} to 10^{-1} M for phenolic compounds Decreased oocyte retrieval LOAELs from 10^{-12} to 10^{-2} M for phenolic compounds Decreased muscle contraction LOAELs from 10^{-12} to 10^{-2} M for phenolic compounds
Riveles et al. (2007)	Female hamster oviducts ex vivo	Solution and gas from 10 smoke puffs of traditional commercial cigarettes (Malboro red and light, Camel filtered and unfiltered, Advance, Omni and Omni light) Mainstream and sidestream smoke	Identification of compounds in smoke solutions and gas phase of traditional commercial cigarettes For Marlboro red, composition of smoke solution: 4-methylpyridine, 106.34 mg/ml; 2-ethylpyridine, 1.1 pg/ml; 3-ethylpyridine, 9.20 mg/ml; 2-methylpyrazine, 19.19 mg/ml; 2-ethylpyrazine, 0.239 mg/ml; 4-methylphenol, 5.32 mg/ml; 4-ethylphenol, 6.23 mg/ml; quinoline, 0.61 mg/ml; indole, 1.82 mg/ml Establishment of the LOAEL for all these compounds on oocyte retrieval rate, ciliary beat frequency and infundibular smooth muscle contraction	Mainstream and sidestream smoke solutions of a commercial cigarettes tested inhibited oocyte retrieval rate, ciliary beat frequency and infundibus smooth muscle contraction Sidestream smoke solutions were more inhibitory than mainstream smoke solutions Mainstream smoke solutions from Marlboro red decreased oocyte retrieval rate by 20%, ciliary be frequency by 70% and infundibular smooth musc contraction by 99.4% LOAEL for oocyte retrieval rate was 9×10^{-9} m ml for 4-methylpyridine, 1×10^{-9} mg/ml for 2-ethylpyridine, 9×10^{-10} mg/ml for 2-methylpyrazine, 1×10^{-9} mg/ml for 2-ethylpyrazine, 1.08×10^{-9} mg/ml for 4-methylphenol, 1×10^{-10} mg/ml for 4-ethylphenol, 1×10^{-9} mg/ml for quinoline and 1×10^{-12} mg/ml for indole

LOAEL, lowest observable adverse effect level.

cells in the oviductal ampulla of hamsters exposed to smoke and found a lower rate of ciliated cells versus controls (69.2, 62.2 and 65.8%, respectively, in control, MS and SS exposed). A defective quality of ciliary beats was observed after exposure of animal oviducts to smoke (Riveles et al., 2005). This ciliary dyskinesia observed after exposure to cigarette smoke was also described in other epithelia, such as the bronchial epithelium (Wyatt et al., 2000; Elliott et al., 2006). Some components of cigarette smoke interfere with proteic complexes involved in ciliary mobility, such as axoneme and dynein (Sisson et al., 1991) or calcium signalling and protein kinase-mediated pathways (Villalon et al., 1989; Wyatt et al., 2000), which could all contribute to impairment of ciliary activity. In animal models, it was also demonstrated that CBF was influenced and dependent on sex steroids, acting through steroid receptors which were identified in ciliary epithelial cells (Paltieli et al., 2000; Shao et al., 2007). As previously described, smoke exposure, acting through impairment of steroidogenesis, could also disturb ciliary activity. Decreased oocyte retrieval could be explained by abnormal and increased adhesion between COC and tubal epithelium, leading to a slow migration of COC. Decreased CBF could obviously contribute to slow COC migration. A quantitative and qualitative impairment of ciliated cells resulting from smoke exposure could account for excessive adhesion between COC and tubal epithelium (Magers et al., 1995), whereas an abnormal COC extracellular matrix (Vrsanska et al., 2003; Gieseke and Talbot, 2005) was thought to be implicated in the abnormal relationship between COC and tubal epithelium, abnormal oocyte retrieval and abnormal migration through Fallopian tubes.

Fallopian tubes seem to be targets of cigarette smoke with deleterious consequences on ciliary cell quantity and quality, oocyte retrieval deficiency, CBF impairment and COC-epithelial cell excessive adhesion. These findings could easily explain abnormal tubal function and the higher rates of ectopic pregnancy observed in patients who smoke.

Cigarette smoking and embryo implantation

Embryo implantation requires a properly prepared endometrium. Site and quality of implantation play a major role in determining the risk of morbidity and mortality during pregnancy.

Impairment of embryo implantation was suspected in cigarette smokers: lower implantation rates were observed in smokers who underwent IVF, even if the results were controversial (Winter et al., 2002; Freour et al., 2008). Using human oocyte donation models, Soares et al. (2007) studied implantation rates in recipients according to their smoking status: implantation rates were lower in heavy smokers (>10 cigarettes/day) than in non-smokers (25.8 and 32.3%, respectively).

Effects of cigarette smoke on the endometrium

The potential effects of cigarette smoke compounds on the endometrium are not well known (Table IV). Using female rats exposed to nicotine, Card and Mitchell investigated the potential effects of nicotine on endometrial decidualization by assessing the weight of the uterus after mechanically induced decidualization. They found a lower uterus weight after nicotine administration and concluded that there was an adverse effect on the decidualization process (Card and Mitchell, 1978). Using primary endometrial cells from hysterectomy

specimens and human endometrial epithelial cell lines, Khorram et al. studied the effects of an aqueous cigarette smoke solution. They observed a significant dose-dependent decrease in endometrial proliferation, involving nitric oxide (NO)-mediated pathways (Khorram et al., 2010).

BaP acts through AhR, a receptor located in the endometrial stroma and epithelial cells. The AhR levels were shown to vary during the entire cycle and peri-implantation period (Kuchenhoff et al., 1999; Kitajima et al., 2004). A potential implication of this receptor was demonstrated using a mouse model: AhR knockout mice were characterized by early pregnancy loss and intrauterine fetal death (Abbott et al., 1999), suggesting that AhR plays a role in the mechanism of implantation and trophoblast invasion.

By interfering with cytochromes involved in estrogen metabolism, BaP and PAH derivatives could act as an anti-estrogenic factor, thereby compromising endometrial maturation (Fertuck et al., 2001; Bao et al., 2002). Using immortalized human endometrial cells, Bao et al. (2002) investigated the effects of BaP on CYPAI, a cytochrome involved in estrogen catabolism and demonstrated that incubation with BaP increased CYPA1 expression and activity (12-fold at I μ M). These observations could explain abnormal endometrial maturation. Cd could also disturb endometrial maturation. Zhang et al. (2007) demonstrated that animal models exposed to i.p. Cd had a thicker endometrial epithelial layer and stromal inflammation. Tsutsumi et al. investigated the effects of Cd on endometrial maturation using human endometrial stromal cell cultures, with prolactin as a marker of decidualization; when exposed to low doses of Cd (10 and 100 nmol/l), no change in prolactin expression was observed. At I µmol/I, prolactin concentration showed a significant 2.4-fold increase, indicating a CdCl₂-induced decidualization process: the authors concluded that an earlier CdCl₂-induced decidualization process could have been the cause of the lower implantation rates seen in heavy smokers (Tsutsumi et al., 2009).

Effects on endometrial angiogenesis

The hypothesis that smoke compounds, particularly BaP, influence angiogenesis is strongly supported by (i) the presence of AhR, in endometrial vessels walls (Kitajima et al., 2004) and (ii) observation of hypertrophic vessel walls in AhR knockout mice (Fernandez-Salguero et al., 1997). Thus, a BaP-induced inhibitory effect on endothelial cell proliferation is strongly suspected. Soghomonians et al. investigated the in vitro effects of cigarette smoke on human uterine endothelial cells incubated with smoke-conditioned medium as well as on PECAM-I, a molecule involved in endothelial cell adhesion. They found that cigarette smoke compounds (i) influenced human endothelial cell mobility and morphology, (ii) increased PECAM-I surface expression and (iii) induced aberrant localization of PECAM-I (Soghomonians et al., 2004), suggesting an aberrant regulation of the angiogenic process caused by smoke compounds. The effects of nicotine on angiogenesis have been studied more comprehensively using placenta, in the later stages of pregnancy: nicotine was implicated in the activation of endothelial cell migration and proliferation, and presented pro-angiogenic properties (Cooke and Bitterman, 2004; Dasgupta and Chellappan, 2006), resulting in increased placental capillary development (Pfarrer et al., 1999).

Smoke compounds seem to present pro- and anti-angiogenic properties, probably involving complex mechanisms. Further studies are

Reference	Model	Dose of toxicants	Effects
Smoke effects on e	endometrium		
Card and Mitchell (1978)	Rat uterus	s.c. nicotine injection 0.5–5.0 mg/kg	Decreased uterus weight Nicotine suppressed uterine responsivity decidualization
Soghomonians et al. (2004)	Human uterine endothelial cell culture in a smoking chamber	Nicotine levels 1.25–10 mg/m ³	Increased PECAM-I synthesis Abnormal endothelial cell PECAM-I distribution Decreased endothelial cell mobility and migration
Zhang et al. (2007)	Rat uterus and endometrium	i.p. cadmium injection 0.12–1.20 mg/kg	Thicker luminal epithelial cell layer, endometrium and myometrium Stromal inflammation Cellular oedema
Tsutsumi et al. (2009)	Human endometrial stromal cells	Cadmium 10-100-1000 nmol/l	Decreased PCNA expression Increased prolactin gene expression Earlier decidualization and disrupted tim decidualization
Khorram et al. (2010)	Human endometrial surface epithelial cell line and human endometrial cells	Aqueous cigarette smoke-saturated solution	Smoke solution inhibited cell proliferation a dose-dependent manner
		Nicotine: 10 ⁻⁵ mol/l	No effect on cell viability by smoke solut
		BaP: 10 ⁻⁵ mol/l	Increased proliferation via NO pathway BaP and nicotine activated NO synthase expression
Smoke effects on i	mplantation and placentation		
Zhang et al. (1995)	Human choriocarcinoma cell lines BeWo	BaP in culture medium: I nM $-50~\mu M$	Decreased binding of EGF to BeWo
			Decreased EGF receptor protein levels not EGF mRNA levels
			Inhibition of cell proliferation
			Decreased EGF-stimulated hCG secretion
Zhang and Shiverick (1997)	Human placental trophoblastic choriocarcinoma cell line JEG-3	BaP 10 μM for 1, 3, 5 and 7 days	Decreased cell proliferation Decreased EGF receptor level
			Decreased TGF-β1 mRNA level
Genbacev et al. (2000)	Placenta from 6–8, 8–10 and 10–12 gestational weeks for <i>in situ</i> study	0 cig/day <10 cig/day	Thin syncytiotrophoblast Reduced number of villous cytotrophob
,	,	II-20 cig/day >20 cig/day	Areas of discontinuity in cytotrophoblas
		20 0,87 0.07	Highly circonvoluted fetal blood vessels
			Increasing number of blindly ended cytotrophoblast columns
			Amorphous matrix in cytotrophoblast columns
			Increased number of cell islands
			Decreased Ki67 reactivity of villous and columns cytotrophoblasts
	Placenta from first trimester termination of non-smokers leading to anchoring villi culture	Nicotine in culture medium: 0.23, 2.3 or 6.0 μM	Increased rate of apoptosis Decreased expression of fibronectin and fibronectin receptor integrin $\alpha 5/\beta 1$
			Decreased trophoblast proliferation and invasion

Reference	Model	Dose of toxicants	Effects
		<10 cig/day	Increased number of nonadherent cell columns
		II-20 cig/day	Decreased cytotrophoblast L-selectin expression
		>20 cig/day	
	Organ culture of placental anchoring villus explants	Nicotine in culture medium: 0.23, 2.3, 4.6, or 6.0 μM	Decreased L-selectin expression Lowest effective dose of nicotine on L-selectin expression 4.2 µM
			Decreased development of cell columns
Genbacev et al. (1995)	Placenta from first trimester termination at $6-8$ weeks of gestation (smoker and non-smokers)	0 cig/day >20 cig/day	Decreased anchoring villi Less prominent cytotrophoblast columns
	Culture of human cytotrophoblasts	Nicotine in culture medium: 0.23, 1.15 or 2.3 μM	Decreased cytotrophoblast proliferation and differentiation
			Decreased cytotrophoblast invasion
			Dose-dependent effect
			Decreased MMP-9 production and activation
Thirkill et al. (2006)	Trophoblast cells from term macaque placentas	Cigarette smoke-conditioned medium	Decreased trophoblast migration
	Human uterine microvascular endothelial cells	Nicotine 1.25-10 mg/m ³	Reduced chemokine RANTES expression
Jolibois et al. (1999)	Culture of human trophoblast cells	Cadmium in culture medium 0, 5, 10 and 20 μM	Inhibition of syncytial maturation No effect on DNA fragmentation and ce viability

ribonucleic acid; TGF-β1, transforming growth factor beta-1; MMP-9, matrix metallopeptidase-9; DNA, deoxyribonucleic acid; RANTES, regulated upon activation normal T-cells

necessary to understand the consequences of, and to clarify the mechanisms involved in, the effects of smoke on angiogenesis, impairment of embryo implantation and early placental development.

expressed and secreted.

Effects of cigarette smoking on trophoblastic adhesion and invasion Effects of cigarette smoking on the implantation process were demonstrated using mouse models: Esposito et al. (2008) studied fetal outcomes in pregnant mice exposed to cigarette smoke only during the peri-implantation period and found a lower fetal weight (1.10 g) than in the control group (1.18 g).

Histological studies of first trimester placenta demonstrated that smoking was associated with abnormal placental morphology such as a thinner syncytiotrophoblast, fewer villous cytotrophoblasts, a discontinuous cytotrophoblast layer, presence of highly circonvoluted fetal blood vessels, an increased number of blindly ending cytotrophoblast columns and fewer anchoring villi (Genbacev et al., 1995; Zhang et al., 1995; Genbacev et al., 2000; Zdravkovic et al., 2006).

Implantation and early placentation require adhesion between blastocyst and endometrium, trophoblastic proliferation, differentiation, migration and invasion. Using human trophoblastic cells, it was demonstrated that cigarette compounds decreased the likelihood of normal placental formation, trophoblastic migration (Genbacev et al., 2000; Thirkill et al., 2006; Zdravkovic et al., 2006), invasion and differentiation (Genbacev et al., 1995, 2000) (Table IV). Using human trophoblast cells, Genbacev et al. (2000) investigated cytotrophoblast mitotic

ability and observed a dose-dependent decrease in mitotic and proliferative ability after smoke exposure. They also studied the migration ability by *in vitro* analysis of cytotrophoblast outgrowth of cultured villous tissue after the addition of increasing doses of nicotine and found a dose-dependent decrease in migration and invasion ability (Genbacev et al., 1995).

Migration and invasion require an interaction between trophoblast and endometrium and involves molecules located on the endometrium layer and the trophoblast surface. The L-selectin receptor and its oligosaccharide ligand are implicated in the trophoblast—endometrium adhesion process (Genbacev et al., 2003) as well as in the interaction between the extra-villous cytotrophoblast and the endometrium (Prakobphol et al., 2006). In smokers, Zdravkovic et al. (2006) described lower levels of L-selectin in trophoblast and cytotrophoblast cells, explaining adhesion impairment and the deleterious interaction between the endometrium and the cytotrophoblast cells.

Trophoblastic invasion is controlled by molecules such as matrix metalloproteases (MMP), epidermal growth factor (EGF) and hCG (Cameron, 1998; Bischof and Campana, 2000; Isaka et al., 2003; Lala and Chakraborty, 2003; Staun-Ram et al., 2004).

In the placental tissue of smokers, lower levels of MMP-9 were observed in cytotrophoblastic cells and MMP-9 activity was decreased by 90% when high doses of nicotine were added to the culture medium (Genbacev et al., 1995). On the promoter of the MMP-I gene, a response element was identified as a target of smoke

compounds, which suggested that smoke compounds had a direct influence on MMP gene expression (Mercer et al., 2009). Zhang et al. demonstrated that human placental trophoblastic cell lines exposed to BaP showed an altered ability to proliferate owing to lower EGF and EGF receptor expression (Zhang et al., 1995; Zhang and Shiverick, 1997). hCG is a key regulator implicated in endometrial receptivity and trophoblastic invasion through MMP regulation (Fluhr et al., 2008). In floating villi, the fusion of cytotrophoblast is regulated by hCG. Using human placental explants cultured in vitro, hCG secretion by trophoblast cells was shown to be influenced by cigarette smoke compounds: when exposed to low doses of Cd or BaP, hCG pulse amplitude and secretion were increased and, in contrast, in the case of high doses of Cd, hCG pulse amplitude was inhibited (Barnea and Shurtz-Swirski, 1992; Boadi et al., 1992). A modification of hCG secretion profile, depending on the smoke compounds and the level of exposure, could explain different degrees of implantation impairment as well as the complexity of abnormalities described.

Cigarette smoking and uterine flow velocity

During the menstrual cycle, changes in blood flow velocity occur in the uterine artery. During the implantation window, a low uterine pulsatility index and high uterine flow velocity were observed (Sladkevicius et al., 1993, 1994; Tan et al., 1996).

Goswamy et al. (1988) introduced the concept of infertility related to vascular impairment. Even if the relationship between abnormal uterine or endometrial blood flow velocity and IVF failure remains controversial (Ng et al., 2007b; Hoozemans et al., 2008), several authors have demonstrated that uterine arterial ultrasound abnormalities were associated with a lower implantation rate in IVF (Ng et al., 2007a; Dechaud et al., 2008; Merce et al., 2008).

Effect of cigarette smoking on uterine and endometrial blood flow Cigarette smoking was shown to induce vascular flow changes with increasing blood pressure and vasoconstriction, immediately following cigarette consumption (Moliterno et al., 1994). Increased levels of vasoactive molecules, such as epinephrine, norepinephrine (Zhu and Parmley, 1995) or endothelin (Haak et al., 1994), were observed immediately after cigarette consumption. Inhibition of NO-induced endothelial relaxation after nicotine exposure was also observed in animal uterine arteries (Xiao et al., 2007) and could participate in haemodynamic changes.

The hypothesis that cigarette smoking could influence uterine artery velocity is controversial (Morrow et al., 1988; Newnham et al., 1990; Muller et al., 2002; Albuquerque et al., 2004). Ng et al. (2006) analysed the effects of cigarette smoking on uterine and endometrial velocity in IVF: no effects were found during Doppler examination of smokers. Lymperopoulou et al. studied uterine blood flow in smoking and non-smoking pregnant women according to cotinine levels (< and ≥ 20 ng/ml): the mean diastolic index was lower in the group with higher cotinine levels (38.7 versus 44.3%). They also found a negative correlation between the uterine artery resistance index (RI) and cotinine levels (Lymperopoulou et al., 1996). Albuquerque et al. (2004) studied the effects of maternal smoking on uterine and umbilical blood flows, taking into account the interval between the last cigarette and the ultrasound scan. They found a higher incidence of Notch in smokers but failed to find any difference between smokers and non-smokers with respect to the uterine artery RI (0.54 and 0.52, respectively, in the non-smoking and smoking groups). However, RI declined as time after the last cigarette elapsed (Albuquerque et al., 2004). Evaluating uterine artery RI in pregnant women who smoke, before and after smoking 2 cigarettes, Castro et al. (1993) found a significant decrease of uterine RI within 5 min after cigarette consumption (from 0.55 to 0.49) with a return to normal levels within 30 min. These findings indicate a short-lived but substantial effect of smoke compounds on uterine arteries. More studies are necessary to confirm the effects of cigarette smoke on uterine blood flow and to investigate a potential effect on spiral arteries and on implantation.

Cigarette smoking and myometrial activity

During the menstrual cycle, the uterus is characterized by myometrial contractions with variations depending on the phase of the cycle, mainly influenced by hormonal status (Lyons et *al.*, 1991; Shafik, 1997; Bulletti et *al.*, 2000; Kunz and Leyendecker, 2002).

Fanchin et al. (1998) demonstrated that a high myometrial contraction frequency on the day of embryo transfer in IVF was associated with lower plasma progesterone levels and implantation rates, suggesting the important role of myometrial quiescence in the implantation process and the role of progesterone in myometrial quiescence.

The potential effect of cigarette smoking on myometrial activity remains poorly understood. However, a negative effect of smoke compounds on myometrial activity was suspected based on the higher rate of premature labour observed in pregnant women who smoke (Cnattingius et al., 1999; Jaddoe et al., 2008).

Effects of cigarette smoke on myometrial activity

The synthesis of progesterone, a regulator of myometrial quiescence, appeared to be reduced after smoke exposure (Paksy et al., 1989; Piasek and Laskey, 1994). Using rat models, Bojanowska et al. (1985) observed that smoke exposure increased the release of neurohypophysial oxytocin. In rat models and human myometrial cells exposed to cigarette smoke extracts, a higher sensitivity to oxytocin as well as a higher frequency of oxytocin-induced contractions was observed (12.2/10 versus 6.4/10 min in controls). Furthermore, higher oxytocin receptor transcript levels (3- to 4-fold) were found in the myometrium of smokers than non-smokers (Egawa et al., 2003). Likewise, Nakamoto et al. (2006) confirmed higher myometrial sensitivity to oxytocin after smoke exposure, but observed increased levels of oxytocin receptor transcripts in preterm myometrium only. These observations suggest that exposure to smoke led to both an earlier and an overexpression of oxytocin receptors resulting in an increased sensitivity to the ligand, along with an aberrant regulation of myometrial contraction and guiescence.

Mechanisms involved in smoke-induced contractions have not been sufficiently investigated. Cd, whose structure is close to that of calcium, was shown to interact with calcium and oxytocin and, as such, affected myometrial activity. At lower Cd concentrations, spontaneous contractions of *ex vivo* human myometrial samples were enhanced (Sipowicz *et al.*, 1995).

Steroidogenesis impairment, higher secretion of oxytocin and its receptors, increased oxytocin sensitivity, and interactions with calcium signalling have all been observed after smoke exposure. A

possible relationship between abnormal myometrial contractility and exposure to smoke, as well as between smoke consumption and the implantation process, could be suspected. More studies are necessary to confirm the consequences of cigarette smoke on myometrial quiescence.

Factors influencing smoke effects on reproductive tract and function

Human and experimental studies demonstrated deleterious effects of smoke on reproductive functions. However, conclusions remain heterogeneous. Many factors could explain different consequences observed in these different studies: smoking behaviour, individual sensitivity, interaction with other toxicants, presence of environmental tobacco smoke (ETS) and time and duration of exposure.

Smoking behaviour and inter-individual sensitivity

In a study involving men smoking the same cigarette brand, blood nicotine levels ranged from 31.3 to 41.0 ng/ml (Armitage et al., 1975). Such a difference could be partially explained by different smoking behaviour, such as volume, duration and length of puffs (Russel et al., 1980; Sutton et al., 1982). Individual differences in blood nicotine levels are attributable for 50-60% to smoking behaviour while cigarette yield of nicotine influenced <25% of blood cotinine levels (Herning et al., 1983). Inter-individual differences in nicotine and cotinine metabolism could also explain differing cotinine and nicotine blood levels. Black smokers were shown to have higher cotinine levels than white smokers, independent of the number of cigarettes smoked (Caraballo et al., 1998; Perez-Stable et al., 1998). In studies with twins, it was demonstrated that the metabolism of nicotine and cotinine was influenced by genetic and environmental effects (Lessov-Schlaggar et al., 2009; Swan et al., 2009). Swan et al., 2009 showed that nicotine metabolism differed depending on individual characteristics, such as sex and BMI. Different smoking behaviours, ethnicity and variation in individual metabolism remain difficult to study but probably contribute to the heterogeneous conclusions derived from human studies.

Interactions and influence of other xenobiotic agents

Interactions with other toxicants could also explain the different effects on reproductive functions. In most animal studies, only the effects of one compound were analysed, but cigarette smoke contains more than 4000 compounds. Using cells in culture, Hewitt et al. demonstrated different levels of Bax and Bcl-2 following exposure to BaP, and depending on the presence or not of other xenobiotic substances, and particularly depending on the presence of E_2 (Hewitt et al., 2007). Moreover, Swan et al. (2009) observed a higher nicotine metabolism in women who used oral contraceptives than those who did not. These observations suggest that environmental toxicants could act in a synergystic, inhibitory or antagonist manner, depending on the presence of other substances.

Doses and duration of exposure

A negative association between the number of daily cigarettes and fecundability was observed (Baird and Wilcox, 1985; Howe et al., 1985; Bolumar et al., 1996), in a dose-dependent manner (Curtis et al., 1997). A positive correlation between follicular fluid smoke

compounds levels and the number of daily cigarettes smoked was also shown (Zenzes et al., 1996; Neal et al., 2008). In experimental studies, a dose-response relationship was also often observed, confirming that deleterious effects of cigarettes are correlated to the extent of exposure. However, animals were often exposed to acute doses of smoke, different from the level of human exposure, and without taking into consideration, the duration of exposure. In couples undergoing IVF, Klonoff-Cohen et al., (2001) demonstrated that long duration of smoke exposure (>5 years) was associated with IVF failure [RR of not achieving a pregnancy = 4.27 (1.53-11.97)]. In mouse models exposed to a repeated low dose of PAH, a greater ovotoxicity than a single high dose was observed (Borman et al., 2000). These conclusions highlight the importance of taking doses and exposure duration into account for a better understanding of the heterogeneous effects of smoke on human reproductive functions.

MS, SS and environmental smoke exposure

In many human studies, only active smoking has been recorded, without taking ETS into account. The effects of SS smoke are not well investigated and controversial. Pattinson et al. (1991) evaluated IVF outcomes in active, passive and non-smokers; patients were considered as passive smokers if their husbands smoked at least I cigarette a day: similar pregnancy rates were observed among non-smokers and passive smokers. Neal et al., (2005) observed a decreased and similar pregnancy rates per transfer in passive and active smoking patients after IVF. Klonoff-Cohen et al. (2001) evaluated the effects of passive smoking on IVF outcomes and found fewer retrieved oocytes in couples in which only the husband smoked. The compositions of MS and SS are different: PAH levels were found to be higher in SS than MS (about 10-fold) (Lodovici et al., 2004; Moir et al., 2008). Follicular fluid analysis of passive smokers revealed the presence of smoke compounds at a higher level when compared with non-smokers (Zenzes et al., 1996; Neal et al., 2008). These observations led to a better understanding of the effects of SS, and that passive smoking should be taken into consideration.

Time of exposure

The hypothesis of deleterious effects of antenatal and childhood exposure to cigarette smoke on adult fertility was raised (Baird and Wilcox, 1986; Weinberg et al., 1989; Wilcox et al., 1989; Jensen et al., 1998; Laurent et al., 1992; Joffe et al., 2000). An association of prenatal exposure and active adult smoking was also demonstrated, being more deleterious on fecundability than adult smoking without prenatal exposure (Jensen et al., 2006). In animal experiments, early deleterious effects on folliculogenesis were demonstrated: using pregnant mice exposed to cigarette smoke, analysis of the ovaries in offspring demonstrated fewer follicles in mice that were exposed to smoke prenatally (Vähäkangas et al., 1985). Using mice models exposed to BaP, Mackenzie and Angevine (1981) studied reproductive function and ovarian histology: fewer litters and hypoplastic ovaries with fewer follicles were observed in mice prenatally exposed. Only one human study has analysed the effects of prenatal exposure on follicle count. Lutterodt et al. investigated the effects of maternal cigarette smoke exposure during the first trimester on human embryonic ovaries obtained from legal abortions. They found fewer

oogonia and somatic cells in the exposed group (Lutterodt et al., 2009), suggesting an early, irreversible and deleterious effect of maternal smoke. Moreover, using ovarian cell cultures from mice fetuses, Matikainen et al. (2002) demonstrated that addition of BaP to the culture medium led to fetal oocyte apoptosis and increased Bax expression. Deleterious effects of prenatal exposure have raised questions about the irreversible effects and decreased ovarian reserve at birth. Moreover, prenatal exposure could interact with, or increase, the negative effects arising from active and passive exposure to smoke in both childhood and adulthood. Different effects at different times of exposure explain the difficulties in analysing the consequences of exposure to smoke, as well as the additive and complex effects of different cumulative exposures.

The effects of past smoking on reproductive functions are also not well known. In many studies, past smokers are considered as nonsmokers. Few studies have categorized patients into active, past and non-smokers. Curtis et al. (1997) did not find a decreased fecundability ratio in past smokers. Jensen et al. (2006) observed that past smokers showed the same time period necessary for conceiving as non-smokers. As few studies have analysed the effects of past smoking, and because in many studies, past smoking was not categorized, conclusions are difficult to establish. However, given the absence of, or only minor, effects of past smoking on fertility, and the negative effects observed when exposure occurred during prenatal life and childhood, this suggest a critical time of exposure, with a high sensitivity to cigarette smoke during fetal development. However, regardless of the observed effects of past smoking, teenagers, women in reproductive life and pregnant women should all be encouraged to stop smoking.

Limitations of experimental and human studies

Experimental studies showed deleterious effects of cigarette smoke on reproductive function. Doses used in experimental studies likely do not correspond to blood and tissue toxicant levels. Moreover, durations and routes of administration are also different. Only one compound was examined in experimental studies, but humans are exposed to more than 4000 compounds. Owing to the limitations of animal studies, extrapolation to human observations should be carried out with great care. However, experimental studies confirm the deleterious effects observed in human studies, allowing us to better understand the negative effects of cigarette smoking on reproductive function and the mechanisms involved.

Conclusion

Exposure to cigarette smoke impairs every stage of the reproductive process and each part of the reproductive system such as folliculogenesis, steroidogenesis, embryonic development and transport, endometrial maturation, implantation and early placentation, uterine vascular velocity and myometrial activity. Cigarette smoke compounds interact with different reproductive targets, depending on individual sensitivities, the presence of other toxic substances and according to time, dose, type and duration of exposure. Because infertile women are known to be motivated to stop smoking, particularly when they are attending for assisted reproduction treatments (Hughes et al., 2000), physicians should encourage these patients to stop smoking.

Further studies are necessary to understand the deleterious effects of smoke compounds on the reproductive system and to provide better knowledge of the molecular mechanisms involved in reproductive toxicology.

References

- Abbott BD, Schmid JE, Pitt JA, Buckalew AR, Wood CR, Held GA, Diliberto JJ. Adverse reproductive outcomes in the transgenic Ah receptor-deficient mouse. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 1999;**155**:62–70.
- Abraham R, Ringwood N, Mankes R. Ultrastructural observations on rabbit blastocysts after maternal exposure to cadmium chloride. *J Reprod Fertil* 1984; **70**:323–325.
- Albuquerque CA, Smith KR, Johnson C, Chao R, Harding R. Influence of maternal tobacco smoking during pregnancy on uterine, umbilical and fetal cerebral artery blood flows. *Early Hum Dev* 2004;**80**:31–42.
- Alonso-Gonzalez C, Gonzalez A, Mazarrasa O, Guezmes A, Sanchez-Mateos S, Martinez-Campa C, Cos S, Sanchez-Barcelo EJ, Mediavilla MD. Melatonin prevents the estrogenic effects of sub-chronic administration of cadmium on mice mammary glands and uterus. *J Pineal Res* 2007;**42**:403–410.
- Armitage AK, Dollery CT, George CF, Houseman TH, Lewis PJ, Turner DM. Absorption and metabolism of nicotine from cigarettes. *Br Med J* 1975; **8**:313–316.
- Augood C, Duckitt K, Templeton AA. Smoking and female infertility: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Hum Reprod* 1998;13:1532–1539.
- Baird DD, Wilcox AJ. Cigarette smoking associated with delayed conception. *JAMA* 1985:**253**:2979–2983.
- Baird DD, Wilcox AJ. Future fertility after prenatal exposure to cigarette smoke. Fertil Steril 1986;46:368–372.
- Baird WM, Hooven LA, Mahadevan B. Carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon-DNA adducts and mechanism of action. *Environ Mol Mutagen* 2005:45:106–114
- Bao H, Vepakomma M, Sarkar MA. Benzo(a)pyrene exposure induces CYP1A1 activity and expression in human endometrial cells. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol* 2002;**81**:37–45.
- Barbieri RL, McShane PM, Ryan KJ. Constituents of cigarette smoke inhibit human granulosa cell aromatase. Fertil Steril 1986;46:232–236.
- Barbieri RL, Sluss PM, Powers RD, McShane PM, Vitonis A, Ginsburg E, Cramer DC.

 Association of body mass index, age, and cigarette smoking with serum testosterone levels in cycling women undergoing in vitro fertilization. *Fertil Steril* 2005:83:302–308
- Barnea ER, Shurtz-Swirski R. Modification of pulsatile human chorionic gonadotrophin secretion in first trimester placental explants induced by polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. *Hum Reprod* 1992;**7**:305–310.
- Benedict JC, Lin TM, Loeffler IK, Peterson RE, Flaws JA. Physiological role of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor in mouse ovary development. *Toxicol Sci* 2000; **56**:382–388.
- Bischof P, Campana A. Molecular mediators of implantation. *Baillieres Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol* 2000; **14**:801–814.
- Boadi WY, Shurtz-Swirski R, Barnea ER, Urbach J, Brandes JM, Philo E, Yannai S. Secretion of human chorionic gonadotropin in superfused young placental tissue exposed to cadmium. *Arch Toxicol* 1992;**66**:95–99.
- Bodis J, Hanf V, Torok A, Tinneberg HR, Borsay P, Szabo I. Influence of nicotine on progesterone and estradiol production of cultured human granulosa cells. *Early Pregnancy* 1997;**3**:34–37.
- Bojanowska E, Stempniak B, Guzek JW. The hypothalamic and neurohypophysial vasopressor and oxytocic activities under conditions of chronic tobacco smoke exposure in the rat. *Acta Physiol Pol* 1985;**36**:242–247.
- Bolumar F, Olsen J, Boldsen J. Smoking reduces fecundity: a European multicenter study on infertility and subfecundity. The European Study Group on Infertility and Subfecundity. Am J Epidemiol 1996;143:578–587.
- Bordel R, Laschke MW, Menger MD, Vollmar B. Nicotine does not affect vascularization but inhibits growth of freely transplanted ovarian follicles by inducing granulosa cell apoptosis. *Hum Reprod* 2006;**21**:610–617.
- Borman SM, Christian PJ, Sipes IG, Hoyer PB. Ovotoxicity in female Fischer rats and B6 mice induced by low-dose exposure to three polycyclic aromatic

- hydrocarbons: comparison through calculation of an ovotoxic index. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 2000;**167**:191–198.
- Bouyer J, Coste J, Shojaei T, Pouly JL, Fernandez H, Gerbaud L, Job-Spira N. Risk factors for ectopic pregnancy: a comprehensive analysis based on a large case-control, population-based study in France. *Am J Epidemiol* 2003; **157**:185–194.
- Bulletti C, de Ziegler D, Polli V, Diotallevi L, Del Ferro E, Flamigni C. Uterine contractility during the menstrual cycle. *Hum Reprod* 2000;**15**:81–89.
- Bussmann UA, Baranao JL. Regulation of aryl hydrocarbon receptor expression in rat granulosa cells. *Biol Reprod* 2006;**75**:360–369.
- Cameron IT. Matrix metalloproteinases prostaglandins endothelins: paracrine regulators of implantation. Gynecol Endocrinol 1998;12:415–419.
- Caraballo RS, Giovino GA, Pechacek TF, Mowery PD, Richter PA, Strauss WJ, Sharp DJ, Eriksen MP, Pirkle JL, Maurer KR. Racial and ethnic differences in serum cotinine levels of cigarette smokers: third national health and Nutrition examination survey, 1988–1991. *JAMA* 1998;**280**:135–139.
- Card JP, Mitchell JA. The effects of nicotine administration on deciduoma induction in the rat. *Biol Reprod* 1978;19:326–331.
- Castro LC, Allen R, Ogunyemi D, Roll K, Platt LD. Cigarette smoking during pregnancy: acute effects on uterine flow velocity waveforms. *Obstet Gynecol* 1993;**81**:551–555.
- CDC, CfDCaP. Smoking prevalence among women of reproductive age—United States, 2006. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2008;57:849–852.
- Charles GD, Bartels MJ, Zacharewski TR, Gollapudi BB, Freshour NL, Carney EW. Activity of benzo[a]pyrene and its hydroxylated metabolites in an estrogen receptor-alpha reporter gene assay. *Toxicol Sci* 2000;**55**:320–326.
- Chow WH, Daling JR, Weiss NS, Voigt LF. Maternal cigarette smoking and tubal pregnancy. *Obstet Gynecol* 1988;**71**:167–170.
- Cnattingius S, Granath F, Petersson G, Harlow BL. The influence of gestational age and smoking habits on the risk of subsequent preterm deliveries. *N Engl J Med* 1999;**341**:943–948.
- Cooke JP, Bitterman H. Nicotine and angiogenesis: a new paradigm for tobacco-related diseases. *Ann Med* 2004;**36**:33–40.
- Cooper GS, Baird DD, Hulka BS, Weinberg CR, Savitz DA, Hughes CL Jr. Follicle-stimulating hormone concentrations in relation to active and passive smoking. Obstet Gynecol 1995;85:407–411.
- Costa RR, Varanda WA. Intracellular calcium changes in mice Leydig cells are dependent on calcium entry through T-type calcium channels. J Physiol 2007; 585:339–349.
- Curtis KM, Savitz DA, Arbuckle TE. Effects of cigarette smoking, caffeine consumption, and alcohol intake on fecundability. *Am J Epidemiol* 1997; **146**:32–41.
- Darbre PD. Metalloestrogens: an emerging class of inorganic xenoestrogens with potential to add to the oestrogenic burden of the human breast. *J Appl Toxicol* 2006;**26**:191–197.
- Dasgupta P, Chellappan SP. Nicotine-mediated cell proliferation and angiogenesis: new twists to an old story. *Cell Cycle* 2006;**5**:2324–2328.
- de Mouzon J, Belaisch-Allart J. Consequences on women's fecundity and on assisted reproductive technology. *J Gynecol Obstet Biol Reprod* 2005;**34**:112–118.
- Dechaud H, Bessueille E, Bousquet PJ, Reyftmann L, Hamamah S, Hedon B. Optimal timing of ultrasonographic and Doppler evaluation of uterine receptivity to implantation. *Reprod Biomed Online* 2008; **16**:368–375.
- Detmar J, Rabaglino T, Taniuchi Y, Oh J, Acton BM, Benito A, Nunez G, Jurisicova A. Embryonic loss due to exposure to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons is mediated by Bax. *Apoptosis* 2006; **11**:1413–1425.
- DiCarlantonio G, Talbot P. Inhalation of mainstream and sidestream cigarette smoke retards embryo transport and slows muscle contraction in oviducts of hamsters (Mesocricetus auratus). Biol Reprod 1999;61:651–656.
- Ding YS, Trommel JS, Yan XJ, Ashley D, Watson CH. Determination of 14 polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in mainstream smoke from domestic cigarettes. *Environ Sci Technol* 2005; 39:471–478.
- Dong W, Wang L, Thornton C, Scheffler BE, Willett KL. Benzo(a)pyrene decreases brain and ovarian aromatase mRNA expression in *Fundulus heteroclitus*. Aquat Toxicol 2008;88:289–300.
- Egawa M, Yasuda K, Nakajima T, Okada H, Yoshimura T, Yuri T, Yasuhara M, Nakamoto T, Nagata F, Kanzaki H. Smoking enhances oxytocin-induced rhythmic myometrial contraction. *Biol Reprod* 2003;**68**:2274–2280.

- El-Nemr A, Al-Shawaf T, Sabatini L, Wilson C, Lower AM, Grudzinskas JG. Effect of smoking on ovarian reserve and ovarian stimulation in in-vitro fertilization and embryo transfer. *Hum Reprod* 1998;13:2192–2198.
- Elenbogen A, Lipitz S, Mashiach S, Dor J, Levran D, Ben-Rafael Z. The effect of smoking on the outcome of in-vitro fertilization—embryo transfer. *Hum Reprod* 1991:**6**:242–244.
- Elliott MK, Sisson JH, West WW, Wyatt TA. Differential in vivo effects of whole cigarette smoke exposure versus cigarette smoke extract on mouse ciliated tracheal epithelium. *Exp Lung Res* 2006;**32**:99–118.
- Esposito ER, Horn KH, Greene RM, Pisano MM. An animal model of cigarette smoke-induced in utero growth retardation. *Toxicology* 2008;**246**:193–202.
- Fabro S, Sieber SM. Caffeine and nicotine penetrate the pre-implantation blastocyst. *Nature* 1969;**223**:410–411.
- Fanchin R, Righini C, Olivennes F, Taylor S, de Ziegler D, Frydman R. Uterine contractions at the time of embryo transfer alter pregnancy rates after in-vitro fertilization. *Hum Reprod* 1998;13:1968–1974.
- Feichtinger W, Papalambrou K, Poehl M, Krischker U, Neumann K. Smoking and in vitro fertilization: a meta-analysis. *J Assist Reprod Genet* 1997;14:596–599.
- Fernandez-Salguero PM, Ward JM, Sundberg JP, Gonzalez FJ. Lesions of aryl-hydrocarbon receptor-deficient mice. *Vet Pathol* 1997;**34**:605–614.
- Fertuck KC, Matthews JB, Zacharewski TR. Hydroxylated benzo[a]pyrene metabolites are responsible for in vitro estrogen receptor-mediated gene expression induced by benzo[a]pyrene, but do not elicit uterotrophic effects in vivo. *Toxicol Sci* 2001:**59**:231–240.
- Fiorini C, Tilloy-Ellul A, Chevalier S, Charuel C, Pointis G. Sertoli cell junctional proteins as early targets for different classes of reproductive toxicants. *Reprod Toxicol* 2004;**18**:413–421.
- Fluhr H, Bischof-Islami D, Krenzer S, Licht P, Bischof P, Zygmunt M. Human chorionic gonadotropin stimulates matrix metalloproteinases-2 and -9 in cytotrophoblastic cells and decreases tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1, -2, and -3 in decidualized endometrial stromal cells. *Fertil Steril* 2008; **90**:1390–1395.
- Freour T, Masson D, Mirallie S, Jean M, Bach K, Dejoie T, Barriere P. Active smoking compromises IVF outcome and affects ovarian reserve. *Reprod Biomed Online* 2008;**16**:96–102.
- Fuentes A, Munoz A, Barnhart K, Arguello B, Diaz M, Pommer R. Recent Cigarette smoking and assisted reproductive technologies outcome. *Fertil Steril* 2010; **93**:89–95.
- Genbacev O, Bass KE, Joslin RJ, Fisher SJ. Maternal smoking inhibits early human cytotrophoblast differentiation. *Reprod Toxicol* 1995;**9**:245–255.
- Genbacev O, McMaster MT, Lazic J, Nedeljkovic S, Cvetkovic M, Joslin R, Fisher SJ.

 Concordant in situ and in vitro data show that maternal cigarette smoking negatively regulates placental cytotrophoblast passage through the cell cycle.

 Reprod Toxicol 2000; 14:495–506.
- Genbacev OD, Prakobphol A, Foulk RA, Krtolica AR, Ilic D, Singer MS, Yang ZQ, Kiessling LL, Rosen SD, Fisher SJ. Trophoblast L-selectin-mediated adhesion at the maternal-fetal interface. *Science* 2003;**299**:405–408.
- Georgellis A, Toppari J, Veromaa T, Rydstrom J, Parvinen M. Inhibition of meiotic divisions of rat spermatocytes in vitro by polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. *Mutat Res* 1990;**231**:125–135.
- Gershon E, Plaks V, Dekel N. Gap junctions in the ovary: expression, localization and function. Mol Cell. Endocrinol 2008;282:18–25.
- Gieseke C, Talbot P. Cigarette smoke inhibits hamster oocyte pickup by increasing adhesion between the oocyte cumulus complex and oviductal cilia. *Biol Reprod* 2005;**73**:443–451.
- Gocze PM, Szabo I, Freeman DA. Influence of nicotine, cotinine, anabasine and cigarette smoke extract on human granulosa cell progesterone and estradiol synthesis. *Gynecol Endocrinol* 1999;**13**:266–272.
- Goswamy RK, Williams G, Steptoe PC. Decreased uterine perfusion—a cause of infertility. *Hum Reprod* 1988;**3**:955—959.
- Gozgit JM, Nestor KM, Fasco MJ, Pentecost BT, Arcaro KF. Differential action of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons on endogenous estrogen-responsive genes and on a transfected estrogen-responsive reporter in MCF-7 cells. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 2004;**196**:58–67.
- Gruber I, Just A, Birner M, Losch A. Effect of a woman's smoking status on oocyte, zygote, and day 3 pre-embryo quality in in vitro fertilization and embryo transfer program. Fertil Steril 2008;**90**:1249–1252.

- Gustafson O, Nylund L, Carlstrom K. Does hyperandrogenism explain lower in vitro fertilization (IVF) success rates in smokers? *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 1996; **75**:149–156
- Haak T, Jungmann E, Raab C, Usadel KH. Elevated endothelin-1 levels after cigarette smoking. Metabolism 1994;43:267–269.
- Hassa H, Gurer F, Tanir HM, Kaya M, Gunduz NB, Sariboyaci AE, Bal C. Effect of cigarette smoke and alpha-tocopherol (vitamin E) on fertilization, cleavage, and embryo development rates in mice: an experimental in vitro fertilization mice model study. Eur | Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2007;135:177–182.
- Henson MC, Chedrese PJ. Endocrine disruption by cadmium, a common environmental toxicant with paradoxical effects on reproduction. *Exp Biol Med (Maywood)* 2004;**229**:383–392.
- Herning RI, Jones RT, Benowitz NL, Mines AH. How a cigarette is smoked determines blood nitcotine levels. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1983;33:84–90.
- Hewitt R, Forero A, Luncsford PJ, Martin FL. Enhanced micronucleus formation and modulation of BCL-2:BAX in MCF-7 cells after exposure to binary mixtures. Environ Health Perspect 2007;115(Suppl. 1):129–136.
- Hoozemans DA, Schats R, Lambalk NB, Homburg R, Hompes PG. Serial uterine artery Doppler velocity parameters and human uterine receptivity in IVF/ICSI cycles. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2008;**31**:432–438.
- Howe G, Westhoff C, Vessey M, Yeates D. Effects of age, cigarette smoking and other factors on fertility: findings in a large prospective study. *Br Med J* 1985; **290**:1697–1700.
- Hughes EG, Brennan BG. Does cigarette smoking impair natural or assisted fecundity? Fertil Steril 1996;**66**:679–689.
- Hughes EG, Yeo J, Claman P, YoungLai EV, Sagle MA, Daya S, Collins JA. Cigarette smoking and the outcomes of in vitro fertilization: measurement of effect size and levels of action. Fertil Steril 1994;62:807–814.
- Hughes EG, Lamont DA, Beecroft ML, Wilson DM, Brennan BG, Rice SC. Randomized trial of a 'stage-of-change' oriented smoking cessation intervention in infertile and pregnant women. *Fertil Steril* 2000;**74**:498–503.
- Huisman M, Kunst AE, Mackenbach JP. Educational inequalities in smoking among men and women aged 16 years and older in 11 European countries. *Tob Control* 2005;**14**:106–113.
- Hull MG, North K, Taylor H, Farrow A, Ford WC. Delayed conception and active and passive smoking. The Avon Longitudinal Study of Pregnancy and Childhood Study Team. *Fertil Steril* 2000;**74**:725–733.
- Inyang F, Ramesh A, Kopsombut P, Niaz MS, Hood DB, Nyanda AM, Archibong AE. Disruption of testicular steroidogenesis and epididymal function by inhaled benzo(a)pyrene. *Reprod Toxicol* 2003; 17:527–537.
- Isaka K, Usuda S, Ito H, Sagawa Y, Nakamura H, Nishi H, Suzuki Y, Li YF, Takayama M. Expression and activity of matrix metalloproteinase 2 and 9 in human trophoblasts. *Placenta* 2003;**24**:53–64.
- Jaddoe VW, Troe EJ, Hofman A, Mackenbach JP, Moll HA, Steegers EA, Witteman JC. Active and passive maternal smoking during pregnancy and the risks of low birthweight and preterm birth: the Generation R Study. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol* 2008;**22**:162–171.
- Jensen TK, Henriksen TB, Hjollund NH, Scheike T, Kolstad H, Giwercman A, Ernst E, Bonde JP, Skakkebaek NE, Olsen J. Adult and prenatal exposures to tobacco smoke as risk indicators of fertility among 430 Danish couples. Am J Epidemiol 1998;148:992–997.
- Jensen TK, Joffe M, Scheike T, Skytthe A, Gaist D, Petersen I, Christensen K. Early exposure to smoking and future fecundity among Danish twins. *Int J Androl* 2006; 29:603–613.
- Jick H, Porter J. Relation between smoking and age of natural menopause. Report from the Boston Collaborative Drug Surveillance Program, Boston University Medical Center. *Lancet* 1977;1:1354–1355.
- Joffe M, Barnes I. Do parental factors affect male and female fertility? *Epidemiology* 2000;11:700-705.
- Jolibois LS Jr, Burow ME, Swan KF, George WJ, Anderson MB, Henson MC. Effects of cadmium cell viability, trophoblastic development, and expression of low density lipoprotein receptor transcripts in cultured human placental cells. *Reprod Toxicol* 1999;13:473–480.
- Jonsson M, Karlsson R, Rylander E, Gustavsson A, Wadell G. The association between risk behavior and reported history of sexually transmitted diseases, among young women: a population based-study. *Int J STD AIDS* 1997;**8**:501–505.
- Jurisicova A, Taniuchi A, Li H, Shang Y, Antenos M, Detmar J, Xu J, Matikainen T, Benito Hernandez A, Nunez G et al. Maternal exposure to polycyclic aromatic

hydrocarbons diminishes murine ovarian reserve via induction of Harakiri. *J Clin Invest* 2007; **117**:3971–3978.

- Kaiserman MJ, Rickert WS. Carcinogens in tobacco smoke: benzo[a]pyrene from Canadian cigarettes and cigarette tobacco. *Am J Public Health* 1992; **82**:1023–1026
- Karaer A, Avsar FA, Batioglu S. Risk factors for ectopic pregnancy: a case-control study. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol 2006;46:521–527.
- Khorram O, Han G, Magee T. Cigarette smoke inhibits endometrial epithelial cell proliferation through a nitric oxide-mediated pathway. *Fertil Steril* 2010; **93**:257–263.
- Kim SJ, Jeong HJ, Myung NY, Kim MC, Lee JH, So HS, Park RK, Kim HM, Um JY, Hong SH. The protective mechanism of antioxidants in cadmium-induced ototoxicity in vitro and in vivo. *Environ Health Perspect* 2008;**116**:854–862.
- Kitajima M, Khan KN, Fujishita A, Masuzaki H, Koji T, Ishimaru T. Expression of the arylhydrocarbon receptor in the peri-implantation period of the mouse uterus and the impact of dioxin on mouse implantation. Arch Histol Cytol 2004; 67:465–474.
- Klonoff-Cohen H, Natarajan L, Marrs R, Yee B. Effects of female and male smoking on success rates of IVF and gamete intra-Fallopian transfer. *Hum Reprod* 2001; **16**:1382–1390.
- Knoll M, Talbot P. Cigarette smoke inhibits oocyte cumulus complex pick-up by the oviduct in vitro independent of ciliary beat frequency. *Reprod Toxicol* 1998; 12:57–68.
- Knoll M, Shaoulian R, Magers T, Talbot P. Ciliary beat frequency of hamster oviducts is decreased in vitro by exposure to solutions of mainstream and sidestream cigarette smoke. *Biol Reprod* 1995;**53**:29–33.
- Kuchenhoff A, Seliger G, Klonisch T, Tscheudschilsuren G, Kaltwasser P, Seliger E, Buchmann J, Fischer B. Arylhydrocarbon receptor expression in the human endometrium. *Fertil Steril* 1999;**71**:354–360.
- Kunz G, Leyendecker G. Uterine peristaltic activity during the menstrual cycle: characterization, regulation, function and dysfunction. *Reprod Biomed Online* 2002;**4**(Suppl. 3):5–9.
- Lacroix A, Hontela A. Role of calcium channels in cadmium-induced disruption of cortisol synthesis in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Comp Biochem Physiol C Toxicol Pharmacol 2006;144:141–147.
- Lala PK, Chakraborty C. Factors regulating trophoblast migration and invasiveness: possible derangements contributing to pre-eclampsia and fetal injury. *Placenta* 2003;**24**:575–587.
- Laurent SL, Thompson SJ, Addy C, Garrison CZ, Moore EE. An epidemiologic study of smoking and primary infertility in women. *Fertil Steril* 1992;**57**: 565–572.
- Lee CK, Brown BG, Rice WY Jr, Doolittle DJ. Role of oxygen free radicals in the induction of sister chromatid exchanges by cigarette smoke. *Environ Mol Mutagen* 1989;13:54–59.
- Leoni G, Bogliolo L, Deiana G, Berlinguer F, Rosati I, Pintus PP, Ledda S, Naitana S. Influence of cadmium exposure on in vitro ovine gamete dysfunction. *Reprod Toxicol* 2002; **16**:371–377.
- Lessov-Schlaggar CN, Benowitz NL, Jacob P, Swan GE. Genetic influence on individual differences in nicotine glucuronidation. *Twin Res Hum Genet* 2009; 12:507–513.
- Lienesch LA, Dumont JN, Bantle JA. The effect of cadmium on oogenesis in *Xenopus laevis*. *Chemosphere* 2000;**41**:1651–1658.
- Liu Y, Li GP, White KL, Rickords LF, Sessions BR, Aston KI, Bunch TD. Nicotine alters bovine oocyte meiosis and affects subsequent embryonic development. Mol Reprod Dev 2007;**74**:1473–1482.
- Liu Y, Li GP, Rickords LF, White KL, Sessions BR, Aston KI, Bunch TD. Effect of nicotine on in vitro maturation of bovine oocytes. *Anim Reprod Sci* 2008a; 103:13–24.
- Liu Y, Li GP, Sessions BR, Rickords LF, White KL, Bunch TD. Nicotine induces multinuclear formation and causes aberrant embryonic development in bovine. *Mol Reprod Dev* 2008b;**75**:801–809.
- Lodovici M, Akpan V, Evangelisti C, Dolara P. Sidestream tobacco smoke as the main predictor of exposure to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. *J Appl Toxicol* 2004; **24**:277–278.
- Lutterodt MC, Sørensen KP, Larsen KB, Skouby SO, Andersen CY, Byskov AG. The Number of oogonia and somatic cells in the human female embryo and fetus in relation to whether or not exposed to maternal cigarette smoking. *Hum Reprod* 2009;**24**:2558–2566.

- Lymperopoulou A, Hainaut F, Crimail P, Durand JL, Locatelli C, Maison C. Smoking and pregnancy: search for a correlation between cotininemia and Doppler findings. *J Gynecol Obstet Biol Reprod* 1996;**25**:824–827.
- Lyons EA, Taylor PJ, Zheng XH, Ballard G, Levi CS, Kredentser JV. Characterization of subendometrial myometrial contractions throughout the menstrual cycle in normal fertile women. *Fertil Steril* 1991;**55**:771–774.
- MacKenzie KM, Angevine DM. Infertility in mice exposed in utero to benzo(a)pyrene. Biol Reprod 1981;24:183–191.
- Magers T, Talbot P, DiCarlantonio G, Knoll M, Demers D, Tsai I, Hoodbhoy T. Cigarette smoke inhalation affects the reproductive system of female hamsters. Reprod Toxicol 1995;9:513–525.
- Mailhes JB, Young D, Caldito G, London SN. Sensitivity of mouse oocytes to nicotine-induced perturbations during oocyte meiotic maturation and aneuploidy in vivo and in vitro. Mol Hum Reprod 2000:6:232–237.
- Matikainen T, Perez Gl, Jurisicova A, Pru JK, Schlezinger JJ, Ryu HY, Laine J, Sakai T, Korsmeyer SJ, Casper RF et al. Aromatic hydrocarbon receptor-driven Bax gene expression is required for premature ovarian failure caused by biohazardous environmental chemicals. Nat Genet 2001;28:355–360.
- Matikainen TM, Moriyama T, Morita Y, Perez Gl, Korsmeyer SJ, Sherr DH, Tilly JL. Ligand activation of the aromatic hydrocarbon receptor transcription factor drives Bax-dependant apoptosis in developing fetal ovarian germ cells. *Endocrinology* 2002; **143**:615–620.
- Mattison DR, Singh H, Takizawa K, Thomford PJ. Ovarian toxicity of benzo(a)pyrene and metabolites in mice. *Reprod Toxicol* 1989;**3**:115–125.
- Merce LT, Barco MJ, Bau S, Troyano J. Are endometrial parameters by three-dimensional ultrasound power Doppler angiography related to in vitro fertilization/embryo transfer outcome? Fertil Steril 2008;89:111-117.
- Mercer BA, Wallace AM, Brinckerhoff CE, D'Armiento JM. Identification of a cigarette smoke responsive region in the distal MMP-1 promoter. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2009;40:4–12.
- Miller MM, Plowchalk DR, Weitzman GA, London SN, Mattison DR. The effect of benzo(a)pyrene on murine ovarian and corpora lutea volumes. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1992;**166**:1535–1541.
- Mlynarcikova A, Fickova M, Scsukova S. Ovarian intrafollicular processes as a target for cigarette smoke components and selected environmental reproductive disruptors. *Endocr Regul* 2005;**39**:21–32.
- Moir D, Rickert WS, Levasseur G, Larose Y, Maertens R, White P, Desjardins S. A comparison of mainstream and sidestream marijuana and tobacco cigarette smoke produced under two machine smoking conditions. *Chem Res Toxicol* 2008;**21**:494–502.
- Moliterno DJ, Willard JE, Lange RA, Negus BH, Boehrer JD, Glamann DB, Landau C, Rossen JD, Winniford MD, Hillis LD. Coronary-artery vasoconstriction induced by cocaine, cigarette smoking, or both. N Engl | Med 1994;330:454–459.
- Morrow RJ, Ritchie JW, Bull SB. Maternal cigarette smoking: the effects on umbilical and uterine blood flow velocity. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1988;**159**:1069–1071.
- Muller JS, Antunes M, Behle I, Teixeira L, Zielinsky P. Acute effects of maternal smoking on fetal-placental-maternal system hemodynamics. Arq Bras Cardiol 2002;78:148–155.
- Mulligan Tuttle AM, Stampfli M, Foster WG. Cigarette smoke causes follicle loss in mice ovaries at concentrations representative of human exposure. Hum Reprod 2009;24:1452–1459.
- Nakamoto T, Yasuda K, Yasuhara M, Nakajima T, Mizokami T, Okada H, Kanzaki H. Cigarette smoke extract enhances oxytocin-induced rhythmic contractions of rat and human preterm myometrium. *Reproduction* 2006;**132**:343–353.
- Nampoothiri LP, Agarwal A, Gupta S. Effect of co-exposure to lead and cadmium on antioxidant status in rat ovarian granulose cells. *Arch Toxicol* 2007;81:145–150.
- Neal MS, Hughes EG, Holloway AC, Foster WG. Sidestream smoking is equally as damaging as mainstream smoking on IVF outcomes. Hum Reprod 2005; 20:2531–2535.
- Neal MS, Zhu J, Holloway AC, Foster WG. Follicle growth is inhibited by benzo-[a]-pyrene, at concentrations representative of human exposure, in an isolated rat follicle culture assay. *Hum Reprod* 2007;**22**:961–967.
- Neal MS, Zhu J, Foster WG. Quantification of benzo[a]pyrene and other PAHs in the serum and follicular fluid of smokers versus non-smokers. *Reprod Toxicol* 2008;**25**:100–106.
- Nesatyy VJ, Rutishauser BV, Eggen RI, Suter MJ. Identification of the estrogen receptor Cd-binding sites by chemical modification. *Analyst* 2005; **130**:1087–1097.

- Newnham JP, Patterson L, James I, Reid SE. Effects of maternal cigarette smoking on ultrasonic measurements of fetal growth and on Doppler flow velocity waveforms. *Early Hum Dev* 1990;**24**:23–36.
- Ng EH, Chan CC, Tang OS, Yeung WS, Ho PC. Factors affecting endometrial and subendometrial blood flow measured by three-dimensional power Doppler ultrasound during IVF treatment. *Hum Reprod* 2006;**21**:1062–1069.
- Ng EH, Chan CC, Tang OS, Yeung WS, Ho PC. Endometrial and subendometrial vascularity is higher in pregnant patients with livebirth following ART than in those who suffer a miscarriage. *Hum Reprod* 2007a;**22**:1134–1141.
- Ng EH, Chan CC, Tang OS, Yeung WS, Ho PC. The role of endometrial blood flow measured by three-dimensional power Doppler ultrasound in the prediction of pregnancy during in vitro fertilization treatment. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2007b: 135:8–16
- Osawa Y, Tochigi B, Tochigi M, Ohnishi S, Watanabe Y, Bullion K, Osawa G, Nakabayashi Y, Yarborough C. Aromatase inhibitors in cigarette smoke, tobacco leaves and other plants. *J Enzyme Inhib* 1990;**4**:187–200.
- Paksy K, Varga B, Horvath E, Tatrai E, Ungvary G. Acute effects of cadmium on preovulatory serum FSH, LH, and prolactin levels and on ovulation and ovarian hormone secretion in estrous rats. Reprod Toxicol 1989;3:241–247.
- Paksy K, Rajczy K, Forgacs Z, Lazar P, Bernard A, Gati I, Kaali GS. Effect of cadmium on morphology and steroidogenesis of cultured human ovarian granulosa cells. J Appl Toxicol 1997; 17:321–327.
- Paltieli Y, Weichselbaum A, Hoffman N, Eibschitz I, Kam Z. Laser scattering instrument for real time in-vivo measurement of ciliary activity in human fallopian tubes. *Hum Reprod* 1995; **10**:1638–1641.
- Paltieli Y, Eibschitz I, Ziskind G, Ohel G, Silbermann M, Weichselbaum A. High progesterone levels and ciliary dysfunction—a possible cause of ectopic pregnancy. J Assist Reprod Genet 2000;17:103–106.
- Paszkowski T, Clarke RN, Hornstein MD. Smoking induces oxidative stress inside the Graafian follicle. *Hum Reprod* 2002; **17**:921–925.
- Pattinson HA, Taylor PJ, Pattinson MH. The effect of cigarette smoking on ovarian function and early pregnancy outcome of in vitro fertilization treatment. *Fertil Steril* 1991:**55**:780–783.
- Pedersen RA, Meneses J, Spindle A, Wu K, Galloway SM. Cytochrome P-450 metabolic activity in embryonic and extraembryonic tissue lineages of mouse embryos. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1985;**82**:3311–3315.
- Perez-Stable EJ, Herrera B, Jacob P, Benowitz NL. Nicotine metabolism and intake in black and white smokers. *JAMA* 1998;**280**:152–156.
- Pfarrer C, Macara L, Leiser R, Kingdom J. Adaptative angiogenesis in placentas of heavy smokers. *Lancet* 1999;**354**:303.
- Piasek M, Laskey JW. Acute cadmium exposure and ovarian steroidogenesis in cycling and pregnant rats. Reprod Toxicol 1994;8:495–507.
- Pocar P, Fischer B, Klonisch T, Hombach-Klonisch S. Molecular interactions of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor and its biological and toxicological relevance for reproduction. *Reproduction* 2005;**129**:379–389.
- Poppe WA, Peeters R, Daenens P, Ide PS, Van Assche FA. Tobacco smoking and the uterine cervix: cotinine in blood, urine and cervical fluid. *Gynecol Obstet Invest* 1995;**39**:110–114.
- Prakobphol A, Genbacev O, Gormley M, Kapidzic M, Fisher SJ. A role for the L-selectin adhesion system in mediating cytotrophoblast emigration from the placenta. Dev Biol 2006;**298**:107–117.
- Riveles K, Iv M, Arey J, Talbot P. Pyridines in cigarette smoke inhibit hamster oviductal functioning in picomolar doses. *Reprod Toxicol* 2003;**17**:191–202.
- Riveles K, Roza R, Arey J, Talbot P. Pyrazine derivatives in cigarette smoke inhibit hamster oviductal functioning. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* 2004;**2**:23.
- Riveles K, Roza R, Talbot P. Phenols, quinolines, indoles, benzene, and 2-cyclopenten-1-ones are oviductal toxicants in cigarette smoke. *Toxicol Sci* 2005;**86**:141–151.
- Riveles K, Tran V, Roza R, Kwan D, Talbot P. Smoke from traditional commercial, harm reduction and research brand cigarettes impairs oviductal functioning in hamsters (Mesocricetus auratus) in vitro. Hum Reprod 2007;**22**:346–355.
- Rocha Monteiro PR, Reis-Henriques MA, Coimbra J. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons inhibit in vitro ovarian steroidogenesis in the flounder (*Platichthys flesus* L.). Aquat Toxicol 2000;**48**:549–559.
- Russel MA, Jarvis M, Iyer R, Feyerabend C. Relation of nicotine yield of cigarettes to blood nicotine concentrations in smokers. *Br Med J* 1980;**285**:972–976.
- Sanders SR, Cuneo SP, Turzillo AM. Effects of nicotine and cotinine on bovine theca interna and granulosa cells. Reprod Toxicol 2002;16:795–800.

- Saraiya M, Berg CJ, Kendrick JS, Strauss LT, Atrash HK, Ahn YW. Cigarette smoking as a risk factor for ectopic pregnancy. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1998;**178**:493–498.
- Shafik A. Electrohysterogram: study of the electromechanical activity of the uterus in humans. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 1997;73:85–89.
- Shaham J, Meltzer A, Ashkenazi R, Ribak J. Biological monitoring of exposure to cadmium, a human carcinogen, as a result of active and passive smoking. *J Occup Environ Med* 1996;**38**:1220–1228.
- Shamsuddin AK, Gan R. Immunohistochemical localization of benzo(a)pyrene-DNA adducts in human tissue. *Hum Pathol* 1988; **19**:309–315.
- Shao R, Weijdegard B, Fernandez-Rodriguez J, Egecioglu E, Zhu C, Andersson N, Thurin-Kjellberg A, Bergh C, Billig H. Ciliated epithelial-specific and regional-specific expression and regulation of the estrogen receptor-beta2 in the fallopian tubes of immature rats: a possible mechanism for estrogen-mediated transport process in vivo. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2007;293:E147—E158.
- Sharovskaya J, Kobliakova I, Solomatina N, Kobliakov V. Effect of some carcinogenic and non-carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons on gap junction intercellular communication in hepatoma cell cultures. Eur J Cell Biol 2006; 85:387–397.
- Shiloh H, Lahav-Baratz S, Koifman M, Ishai D, Bidder D, Weiner-Meganzi Z, Dirnfeld M. The impact of cigarette smoking on zona pellucida thickness of oocytes embryos prior to transfer into the uterine cavity. *Hum Reprod* 2004; 19:157–159.
- Shiromizu K, Mattison DR. The effect of intraovarian injection of benzo(a)pyrene on primordial oocyte number and ovarian aryl hydrocarbon [benzo(a)pyrene] hydroxylase activity. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 1984;**76**:18–25.
- Sinko I, Morocz M, Zadori J, Kokavszky K, Rasko I. Effect of cigarette smoking on DNA damage of human cumulus cells analyzed by comet assay. *Reprod Toxicol* 2005;**20**:65–71.
- Sipowicz M, Kostrzewska A, Laudanski T, Akerlund M. Effects of cadmium on myometrial activity of the nonpregnant human. Interactions with calcium and oxytocin. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 1995;**74**:93–96.
- Sisson JH, Tuma DJ, Rennard SI. Acetaldehyde-mediated cilia dysfunction in bovine bronchial epithelial cells. *Am J Physiol* 1991;**260**:L29–L36.
- Sladkevicius P, Valentin L, Marsal K. Blood flow velocity in the uterine and ovarian arteries during the normal menstrual cycle. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 1993; 3:199–208.
- Sladkevicius P, Valentin L, Marsal K. Blood flow velocity in the uterine and ovarian arteries during menstruation. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 1994;**4**:421–427.
- Smida AD, Valderrama XP, Agostini MC, Furlan MA, Chedrese J. Cadmium stimulates transcription of the cytochrome p450 side chain cleavage gene in genetically modified stable porcine granulosa cells. *Biol Reprod* 2004;**70**:25–31.
- Soares SR, Simon C, Remohi J, Pellicer A. Cigarette smoking affects uterine receptiveness. Hum Reprod 2007;22:543–547.
- Soghomonians A, Thirkill TL, Mariano NF, Barakat Al, Douglas GC. Effect of aqueous tobacco smoke extract and shear stress on PECAM-I expression and cell motility in human uterine endothelial cells. *Toxicol Sci* 2004;81:408–418.
- Staun-Ram E, Goldman S, Gabarin D, Shalev E. Expression and importance of matrix metalloproteinase 2 and 9 (MMP-2 and -9) in human trophoblast invasion. Reprod Biol Endocrinol 2004;2:59.
- Stergachis A, Scholes D, Daling JR, Weiss NS, Chu J. Maternal cigarette smoking and the risk of tubal pregnancy. *Am J Epidemiol* 1991; **133**:332–337.
- Stoica A, Katzenellenbogen BS, Martin MB. Activation of estrogen receptor-alpha by the heavy metal cadmium. *Mol Endocrinol* 2000; **14**:545–553.
- Sutton SR, Russel MA, Iyer R, Feyeradend C, Saloojee Y. Relationship between cigarette yield, puffing pattern and smoke intake: evidence for tar compensation. *Br Med J* 1982;**285**:600–603.
- Swan GE, Lessov-Schlaggar CN, Bergen AW, He Y, Tyndale RF, Benowitz NL. Genetic and environmental influence on the ratio of 3'hydroxycotinine to cotinine in plasma and urine. *Pharmacogenet Genomics* 2009;**19**:388–398.
- Talbot P, DiCarlantonio G, Knoll M, Gomez C. Identification of cigarette smoke components that alter functioning of hamster (Mesocricetus auratus) oviducts in vitro. Biol Reprod 1998;58:1047–1053.
- Tan SL, Zaidi J, Campbell S, Doyle P, Collins W. Blood flow changes in the ovarian and uterine arteries during the normal menstrual cycle. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1996; 175:625–631.
- Thirkill TL, Vedagiri H, Douglas GC. Macaque trophoblast migration toward RANTES is inhibited by cigarette smoke-conditioned medium. *Toxicol Sci* 2006; **91**:557–567.

- Tscheudschilsuren G, Kuchenhoff A, Klonisch T, Tetens F, Fischer B. Induction of arylhydrocarbon receptor expression in embryoblast cells of rabbit preimplantation blastocysts upon degeneration of Rauber's polar trophoblast. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 1999; **157**:125–133.
- Tsutsumi R, Hiroi H, Momoeda M, Hosokawa Y, Nakazawa F, Yano T, Tsutsumi O, Taketani Y. Induction of early decidualization by cadmium, a major contaminant of cigarette smoke. Fertil Steril 2009;91:1614–1617.
- Tzonou A, Hsieh CC, Trichopoulos D, Aravandinos D, Kalandidi A, Margaris D, Goldman M, Toupadaki N. Induced abortions, miscarriages and tobacco smoking as risk factors for secondary infertility. *J Epidemiol Community Health* 1993: 47:36–39
- Vähäkangas K, Raianiemi H, Pelkonen O. Ovarian toxicity of cigarette smoke exposure during pregnancy in mice. *Toxicol Lett* 1985;**25**:75–80.
- Van der Vaart H, Postma DS, Timens W, ten Hacken NH. Acute effects of cigarette smoke on inflammation and oxidative stress: a review. *Thorax* 2004; **59**:713–721.
- Van Voorhis BJ, Syrop CH, Hammitt DG, Dunn MS, Snyder GD. Effects of smoking on ovulation induction for assisted reproductive techniques. *Fertil Steril* 1992; **58**:981–985.
- Van Voorhis BJ, Dawson JD, Stovall DW, Sparks AE, Syrop CH. The effects of smoking on ovarian function and fertility during assisted reproduction cycles. Obstet Gynecol 1996;88:785–791.
- Vidal JD, VandeVoort CA, Marcus CB, Lazarewicz NR, Conley AJ. In vitro exposure to environmental tobacco smoke induces CYPIBI expression in human luteinized granulosa cells. Reprod Toxicol 2006;22:731–737.
- Villalon M, Hinds TR, Verdugo P. Stimulus-response coupling in mammalian ciliated cells. Demonstration of two mechanisms of control for cytosolic [Ca²⁺]. *Biophys J* 1989:**56**:1255–1258.
- Vrsanska S, Nagyova E, Mlynarcikova A, Fickova M, Kolena J. Components of cigarette smoke inhibit expansion of oocyte-cumulus complexes from porcine follicles. *Physiol Res* 2003;**52**:383–387.
- Waylen AL, Metwally M, Jones GL, Wilkinson AJ, Ledger WL. Effects of cigarette smoking upon clinical outcomes of assisted reproduction: a meta-analysis. *Hum Reprod Update* 2009;15:31–44.
- Weinberg CR, Wilcox AJ, Baird DD. Reduced fecundability in women with prenatal exposure to cigarette smoking. *Am J Epidemiol* 1989;**129**:1072–1078.
- Weiss T, Eckert A. Cotinine levels in follicular fluid and serum of IVF patients: effect on granulosa-luteal cell function in vitro. *Hum Reprod* 1989;4:482–485.
- Wilcox AJ, Baird DD, Weinberg CR. Do women with childhood exposure to cigarette smoking have increased fecundability? *Am J Epidemiol* 1989; 129:1079–1083.
- Winter E, Wang J, Davies MJ, Norman R. Early pregnancy loss following assisted reproductive technology treatment. *Hum Reprod* 2002; 17:3220–3223.
- Wright KP, Trimarchi JR, Allsworth J, Keefe D. The effect of female tobacco smoking on IVF outcomes. *Hum Reprod* 2006;**21**:2930–2934.
- Wyatt TA, Schmidt SC, Rennard SI, Tuma DJ, Sisson JH. Acetaldehyde-stimulated PKC activity in airway epithelial cells treated with smoke extract from normal and smokeless cigarettes. *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med* 2000;**225**:91–97.
- Xiao D, Huang X, Yang S, Zhang L. Direct effects of nicotine on contractility of the uterine artery in pregnancy. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 2007;**322**:180–185.
- Yu HS, Tam PP, Chan ST. Effects of cadmium on preimplantation mouse embryos in vitro with special reference to their implantation capacity and subsequent development. *Teratology* 1985;**32**:347–353.
- Zdravkovic T, Genbacev O, Prakobphol A, Cvetkovic M, Schanz A, McMaster M, Fisher SJ. Nicotine downregulates the L-selectin system that mediates cytotrophoblast emigration from cell columns and attachment to the uterine wall. *Reprod Toxicol* 2006;**22**:69–76.
- Zenzes MT, Krishnan S, Krishnan B, Zhang H, Casper RF. Cadmium accumulation in follicular fluid of women in in vitro fertilization-embryo transfer is higher in smokers. Fertil Steril 1995a;64:599–603.
- Zenzes MT, Wang P, Casper RF. Cigarette smoking may affect meiotic maturation of human oocytes. *Hum Reprod* 1995b; **10**:3213–3217.
- Zenzes MT, Reed TE, Wang P, Klein J. Cotinine a major metabolite of nicotine is detectable in follicular fluids of passive smokers in in vitro fertilization therapy. Fertil Steril 1996;66:614–619.
- Zenzes MT, Puy LA, Bielecki R. Immunodetection of cotinine protein in granulosa-lutein cells of women exposed to cigarette smoke. *Fertil Steril* 1997a; **68**:76–82.

- Zenzes MT, Reed TE, Casper RF. Effects of cigarette smoking and age on the maturation of human oocytes. *Hum Reprod* 1997b;12:1736–1741.
- Zenzes MT, Puy LA, Bielecki R. Immunodetection of benzo[a]pyrene adducts in ovarian cells of women exposed to cigarette smoke. *Mol Hum Reprod* 1998; **4**:159–165.
- Zenzes MT, Puy LA, Bielecki R, Reed TE. Detection of benzo[a]pyrene diol epoxide-DNA adducts in embryos from smoking couples: evidence for transmission by spermatozoa. *Mol Hum Reprod* 1999;**5**:125–131.
- Zhang L, Shiverick KT. Benzo(a)pyrene, but not 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin, alters cell proliferation and c-myc and growth factor expression in
- human placental choriocarcinoma JEG-3 cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 1997;**231**:117–120.
- Zhang L, Connor EE, Chegini N, Shiverick KT. Modulation by benzo[a]pyrene of epidermal growth factor receptors, cell proliferation, and secretion of human chorionic gonadotropin in human placental cell lines. *Biochem Pharmacol* 1995; **50**:1171–1180.
- Zhang W, Yang J, Wang J, Xia P, Xu Y, Jia H, Chen Y. Comparative studies on the increase of uterine weight and related mechanisms of cadmium and *p*-nonylphenol. *Toxicology* 2007;**241**:84–91.
- Zhu BQ, Parmley WW. Hemodynamic and vascular effects of active and passive smoking. *Am Heart J* 1995;**130**:1270–1275.